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THE

LIFE AND TIMES .

EDWARD THE THIRD.

A.D. 1827-1717.

\ CHAPTER I.

THE ENGLISH RULE IN ‘IRELAND, AND ITS FATALLY MISCHIEVOUS
CHARACTER.

For several years after the release of King David, A.p.13s.
there was peace between England and Scotland, and, ~
therefore, the history of the latter country need not

now be pursued any further; but, before returning

to the narrative of the events which were occurring

in England, it is necessary to give an account of

King Edward’s government of Ireland, and of the
troubles with that country, which about this time

sorely vexed England.

The iniquitous laws forbidding marriages between gyetcn of
the English and Irish, which were passed in 1357, thehistory
have been already briefly noticed ;' but their object, Conquest
and the causes which led to their enactment, cannot of Treland.
be clearly understood without a short sketch of the

1 See chap. xix. vol. i.
VOL. IL B



A.D. 1357.

Contrast
between
the treat-
ment by
the Eng-
lish of
the Irish
and of the
Scots,
and the
Norman
treatment
of the
Anglo-
Saxons,
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History of Ireland. This will be little more than
an account of conquests, of quarrels among the con-
querors, of their treacheries and oppressions, and of
their alliances with the ‘“mere Irish,” when such
alliances seemed useful to them, either in supporting
their treasons to their King, or in resisting the feudal
tyranny of the Viceroys. Of laws for the benefit of
Ireland, of consideration for the welfare of the Irish,
there will be no trace.

It is impossible to avoid contrasting Edward’s
treatment of Scotland with that of Ireland, whe-
ther by himself or by his predecessors. The go-
vernment of Scotland, by one King instead of six,
and its consequent greater unity, undoubtedly en-
abled it to resist invaders with greater success than
Ireland ; but, from the beginning, however desirous
the Kings of England may have been to subdue
Scotland, no attempt was ever made to exercise over
it that tyrannous despotism, which, in early times at
least, always characterised the English government
of Treland. The same remarks may be made with
reference to the Norman conquest of England. It
is true that the Norman conquerors of the English
exercised oppression enough, and were sufficiently ra-
pacious in appropriating their lands, yet they ulti-
mately became one people with them. The sons and
daughters of the two races intermarried, the Norman
conquerors lived with the people whom they had
subdued, the Norman Kings stayed in the country,
and the Normans at last became Englishmen; whereas
in Ireland no greater crime could be committed than
for an English conqueror to marry or be friends with
the Irish whom he had brought under subjection,
and was ordered to enslave, nor might he even
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adopt their customs or pastimes, or learn their lan- A.D.1357.
guage. —

The reason of this, as will be shown, was, that a
certain portion of the English, to whom Irish lands
were granted, became attached to the people and the
country, and then endeavoured to become indepen-
dent of England. The policy of England, was to
make the settlers aliens in the land.

When Ireland was invaded by Henry the Second, it Political
was divided into five provinces, viz. Ulster, Leinster, o T
Connaught, and North and West Munster, each of %% time
which was governed by a king ; but these five provinces ll‘l';::';"iff
elected a Monarch of all Ireland, who possessed, in
virtue of that dignity, the central territory of Meath.

As Duke William had received authority from Pope
Alexander II. to subdue England, so had Henry II.
received a Bull, in 1155, from Adrian IV. directing ra.n. 115,
him to subdue Ireland. The pretext was, “to extend Fretext
the bounds of the Church, and to teach a rude people invasion.
the rudiments of the Christian faith,” as if the Irish
up to that time had been pagans. No opportunity
for acting on this Bull offered itself for nearly fifteen
years; but at last, Dermod MacMurragh, King of
Leinster, quarrelled with Roderick O’Connor, the
Monarch of Ireland, who deprived him of his throne.
Thus there arose an excuse for England’s interfer-
ence. In an evil moment for Ireland, Dermod sought
the aid of Henry the Second. Henry had gone to Aqui- The King
taine, to quell some disturbances in his French do- Seeus hory
. minions, and thither Dermod went, and offered to do ‘;;‘;1‘:;‘2;
the King homage for Leinster, on condition of his England
helping him to recover his sovereignty over it. The ?;gif;s;;he
feudal system was never established among the native ™***
Irish, and this promise of allegiance, therefore, could

B2

-



4 LIFE AND TIMES OF EDWARD IIIL Crar. L.

tap. uss] neither bind his clan—or sept, as these communities
" were called in Ireland—nor be of force under the
Irish law; but yet Henry accepted Dermod as his
liegeman, and thus, according to the feudal law, or
principle of commendation, became bound to help

him against his enemies.
The King  Having received formal documents from Henry, pro-

o Leinste mising his favour to all Dermod’s subjects who should

help from  help him, Dermod set out on his return to Ireland ;
+Suong-  on his way, passing through Bristol (which was
o then, as now, much frequented by the Irish), he
made arrangements with Richard Fitzgilbert, Earl of
Pembroke, and Lord of Strigul (now Chepstow), who
afterwards became celebrated as Strongbow, for
help towards the recovery of his kingdom. This earl
therefore went over to Ireland to fight for Dermod,
(ap. 1] gnd married his daughter Eva. On Dermod’s death in
who o, LLTLE Strongbow ” claimed the kingdom of Leinster ;
* daughter. but O’Connor, the King of Ireland, refused to recog-
nise his claim, made war upon him, and besieged
him in Dublin. Strongbow defeated O’Connor, and
then went over to England; leaving Dublin in the
custody of Milun de Cogan. In the autumn, he re-
turned with a large army, accompanied by King
Henry, who had now resolved to attempt the conquest

of Ireland.
Heury 11 Henry landed at Waterford on October 18th, 1171,
Teland. and marched through Leinster to Dublin, where he
‘“kept his Christmas.” All the Kings of Ireland,
except the King of Connaught,! agreed to become
tributary to him, and in the following spring, Henry,
thinking he had done enough to secure possession of

Ireland, returned to England. Before his departure,
! Ben. Abb. 1. 25,
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however, although he had acquired no power over any
part of Ireland but Leinster, and in utter defiance of
the laws of Ireland, he executed charters bestowing
on ten of his principal followers, according to the
Norman law, the entire land of Ireland, with the ex-
ception of the towns on the Eastern coast, which he
kept under his own control.

It is evident, that these intruders could not obtain
possession of the lands thus granted to them, unless
they were able by force of arms to subdue their native
lords. Such indeed was the condition of the grants,
and thus were laid - the foundations of the struggles
between the English and Irish, which have never
wholly ceased from the days of Strongbow until now.
After a time, as will be seen, the invaders became
possessed of a great part of Ireland; they then tried
to shake off their dependence on England, to which
they became a source of great trouble, and quarrelled
with each other. But yet, with the exception of
some who became attached to the Irish but were for-
bidden by law to become their friends, they never
amalgamated with the natives of the country.

On leaving Ireland, Henry appointed Hugh de
Lacy governor of Dublin and head of the Anglo-
Norman colony. He was thus the first Viceroy of
Ireland appointed by the King of England.

In 1177, Henry decided on erecting the English
colony in Ireland into a distinct dominion or lordship
for his son John, and with the Pope’s leave invested
him as Lord of Ireland. The English to whom grants
of Irish lands had been made, were thus compelled
to swear to hold their possessions of John and Henry.
Strong castles were now built everywhere as defences
against the natives, who opposed the new comers

[A.D. 1171.]
Henry

grants
Ireland to
his barons,

who seize
it by force
of arms.

The first
Viceroy.

[AD. 1177.]
Henry’s
son John
invested
with the
dominion
over
Ireland.
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of him.

[A.D. 1186.]
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unceasingly. Even at this time, it was deemed a
wise policy, to prevent any friendly union between
the invaders and the natives, lest they should become
nearer of kin to Ireland than to England ; no stronger
evidence of this intention can be needed, than the fact
that when, in 1181, Hugh de Lacy, the Viceroy, took
for his second wife the daughter of King Roderick
O’Connor, Henry immediately dismissed him from
his office. Henry soon saw his mistake, and thought
it best to reappoint him ; but, so utterly had De Lacy
shuken Henry’s confidence in him, by daring to marry
an Irish woman, that he would not restore him to his
dignities, without taking securities for his fidelity,
and associating with him the Constable of Chester

(his kinsman), and a priest to act as a spy upon his
actions.

" Henry now feared lest the barons, for whom he
had despoiled the Irish chiefs, should become strong
enough to assert their independence and set him at
defiance, and, accordingly, sent his son John over to
Ireland in 1185, as chief Governor, to keep them in
order ; but John was soon obliged to return to Eng-
land, after disastrous conflicts with the native chiefs.

In 1186, De Lacy was murdered by the foster-son
of one of the chiefs whom he had dispossessed, and
his death was deemed a serious blow to the English
authority. By the advice of Girald de Barri, better
known as Giraldus Cambrensis, who had been ap-
pointed as a companion and adviser to Prince John,
more castles were therefore built, passes were cut
through the woods, and even the natives under Anglo-
Norman control were forbidden to bear arms of any
kind, but above all to use the favourite Irish axe.

The English, as had been feared by Henry, now
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endeavoured to make themselves independent rulers,
and shake off their allegiance, not only to the King
of England, but also to his Viceroy. Thus John de
Courcy, Earl of Ulster, the first foreigner on whom
an Irish title had been conferred, coined money in
his own name, lived in regal state, waged war against
the Viceroy, and defeated him in 1204,

But even the Viceroys, or Chief Justiciaries as they
were usually called after the close of the 12th century,
were not free from suspicion, and were obliged—as
De Lacy had been—to give hostages to the King for
their fidelity. The native chiefs, who entered into
engagements with the King, were obliged in like
manner to give hostages to the Justiciary.

But the Justiciaries did not spare their own coun-
trymen, and in 1208, Hugh de Lacy the second,
son of the first viceroy to whom the government of
the colony had been entrusted, so oppressed the
colonists, that they joined with the despised Irish,
and fought a battle with De Lacy at Thurles. Two
years afterwards, King John thought it needful
to go over to Ireland to look after his Viceroy, and,
assisted by some of the native chiefs, with whom for
his own ends he made friends, actually waged war
against him. He overran all the country which had
been colonised by the English, De Lacy retreating
before him and burning his castles. On John’s return
to Dublin, he made the English Lords swear obedience
to the laws of England, and ordered that all subjects
holding land by “knight’s service,” should, when
summoned to the King’s aid, furnish for each knight’s
fee a horse-soldier, well mounted, accoutred with
helmet, shirt of mail, spear and sword; and that
tenants by ¢ service of foot-soldiers” should provide

[A.D. 1204.)
The
settlers
try to
become
indepen-
dent.

Even the
Viceroys
are sus-
pected ;

[A.D. 1208.]

but still
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oppress the
settlers.

King John
foes to
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of Ireland
agaiost the
Irish,
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tap. 128) men well armed with shields, spears, and long knives,
for the defence of the colony.

eory Il On the accession of Henry the Third, he ordered the

.‘l’,’p,‘f‘i‘i't_‘he Justiciary, to forbid the admission of any native Irish-

mentof man to cathedral preferment in Ireland. He was
native

Iishto ~ soon obliged to recall this order, but its issue is one
prefer- . Of the evidences that the principles on which Ireland
ment. was governed, were that the natives should be uni-
versally reduced to utter subjection.

The King  Insubordination among the settlers, and constant
fears to . .

punish the warfare with the septs, were now the unvarying
ipeubor-  phases of the state of Ireland, and the King feared

the settler  to punish the treachery of his own creatures, lest he
chiefs, lest

heshould should turn them into friends of the Irish. Thus,
Takethem when the Earl of Pembroke, Strongbow’s grandson,
fell in battle with the Viceroy, Henry lost no time in
conferring his estates on his brothers, and heaping
honours on them, in order to secure their fidelity.
Resistance  I'OT Some years, there was no change in the system
‘;:p‘:’: ixieh on which England attempted to subdue Ireland. In
English 1260 the septs rose and gained important advantages
over the colonists, and from 1276 to 1282 the English
were hard-pressed by the Irish. Sir Robert Ufford,
who was Viceroy at this time, tried to lessen their
power, by setting the septs one against another, and
on being called to account for this by King Edward
the First, who ordered him to come to him in Eng-
land, he said he thought it expedient to wink at one
knave cutting off another; at which the King smiled,
and bade him return to Ireland.
Irelind - About the beginning of the fourteenth century
B those portions of Ireland which were nominally
liberties  ynder English dominion were divided into five

“Liberties,” viz. Connaught and Ulster; Meath;
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‘Wexford, Carlow and Kilkenny; Thomond or North
Munster; and Desmond or West Munster. These
were also organised into ten counties, viz. Dublin,
Louth, Kildare, Waterford, Tipperary, Cork, Limerick,
Kerry, Roscommon, and part of Connaught. The
Lords of the Liberties exercised high authority, and

[A.D. 1309.]

and
counties.

lived in the state of princes; but, on most of the -

Liberties, many native septs still existed, sometimes
as friends, sometimes as foes, who were governed
according to the Gaelic code, known as the Senchus
Mor, administered by their Brehons or judges ac-
cording to ancient precedents. The borders, called
“ Marches,” between the Anglo-Norman lands and
those almost entirely occupied by the Irish, were
continually attacked by the native septs, who gave
the colonists no peace, and who sometimes advanced
to the very gates of Dublin. The landholders near
the “ Marches” were, therefore, obliged to keep soldiers
constantly ready, to repel attacks by day or night.
But the colonists suffered also, from the constant
quarrels of their resident Lords, and from the absen-
teeism of the others, whilst they were also continually
called on by Edward the Third to furnish soldiers for
his wars. Under these circumstances, it cannot be
matter of surprise, that many of the settlers thought
it would be better, to be independent of England,
and to unite themselves with the Irish chiefs. Some
of them therefore adopted the native habits and
manners, and were consequently sometimes taken for
and treated as Irish enemies. Thus sprang up an
additional difficulty in the management of Ireland.
The policy of the kings of England, from the first,
was to treat the natives as a horde of savages, to take
their lands wholly from them, and to reduce them to

Evils of
absen-
teeism.

[A.D. 1309.]

The
settlers
begin to
adopt Irish
habits, and
are for-
bidden to
do so.
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the condition of villein labourers, if not of very
slaves, on the demesnes, which were once their own
but had become the property of foreign conquerors.
But, as already related, on the one hand, the Lords sent
to Ireland to carry this policy into effect, could not
avoid forming friendships with those whom they sub-
dued, or becoming half Irish by marriage with their
daughters; and, on the other, they so constantly quar-
relled among themselves, and so uniformly oppressed
their English vassals, that the latter often banded
themselves together with the Irish against them. The
colony therefore was far from flourishing, and in 1309
the Anglo-Irish Parliament ascribed the poverty of
the colonists to the oppressions of the English Lords,
from whom they dared not ask redress. Parliament
therefore gave them a right of appeal to the King.
The triumph of Bruce over the English in 1314
gave the Irish great hopes of uprooting the alien
rule; the crown of Ireland was, therefore, with this
view, offered to Bruce’s brother, Edward Earl of
Carrick, by O’Neill and other unsubdued Ulster chiefs,
with whom the ambitious De Lacys united. Edward
Bruce readily accepted the proffered crown, and
landed on the Ulster coast with about 6,000 men, in
May 1315. He was immediately joined by Donald
O’Neill and other Irish allies, and after gaining some
important victories over the colonists, was crowned
Monarch of Ireland at Carrickfergus. The next
year he defeated the Viceroy. The settlers now be-
came alarmed, and, setting forth in a manifesto that
“the Scotch enemy had drawn to them all the Irish,
many of the English, and a large number of the great
lords, seeking traitorously to wrest Ireland from their
Lord ¢ Monsieur Edward,” King of England,” entered
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into a solemn league to maintain his rights, and, in rap. 18]
order to prevent breaches of faith among themselves,
offered to give hostages for their fidelity to the King.
Bruce’s reign over Ireland however, was not of long Death of
duration, and produced but little effect on its con- o
dition. A large number of settlers were driven out 2oy &%t
of Ulster, and in that territory, as well as in Con- the Irish.
naught and North Munster, many of the Irish re-
gained possession of their lands; but Ireland was not
freed from the English invaders.

Soon after the accession of Edward the Third to the
throne of England, he issued ordinances for the re-
formation of Ireland ; providing, among other things, Bdward
that all English proprietors of lands in Ireland, 1aws
whether lay or ecclesiastical, should either dwell on 252t
them or provide soldiers for their defence against
the Irish. The English Lords, however, still con-
tinued their struggle for independence. The junior
branches of the De Burgh family (the senior male
line having become extinct by the death of Earl Wil-
liam), fearful lest a new feudal absentee Lord should
be thrust upon them, occupied and divided between
themselves the entire Lordship of Connaught, com-
prising the present counties of Galway and Mayo,
inclusive of the town of Galway. They confederated The De
themselves with the native septs, adopted Irish dress, 235,‘5,“,3“‘
language and laws, took Irish names, and renounced ®defisnce:
their allegiance to England. Simultaneously with
this defection, a sept of the O’Neills drove the settlers Successes
out of East Ulster, and by about 1341, the Irish had fs:
regained more than a third part of the territories
which had been brought under English dominion.

King Edward now sought to secure greater fidelity

among his officers in Ireland by separating them en--
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AD.1341. tirely from Irish interests. In 1341, he ordered that
Eiwara 811 his officers who were married or who had estates
tristo  in Ireland and none in England, should be removed,
fretand by and Englishmen having lands in England put in their
severing  place. His next measure was still more fatal to the
govemors  peace of Ireland; in order to replenish his treasury,
atirely . . .
from the  emptied by his. foreign wars, he declared void every
governed, grant of land and tenements in Ireland made from
revokes  the time of his father, and at the same time annulled
gratsof gl acquittances, except those under the great seal of
" England, which had at any time been given to its
debtors in Ireland by the English Crown. New grants
were made of the lands thus resumed by the King.
and thos  This introduced a fresh element of discord, for thenew
difaesthe comers, termed “English by birth,” were naturally
Bactisnby the enemies of those whose lands they occupied, and
léinrtgl;i:;gy who although of English origin were born in Ireland
bood. ~ and were therefore called “ English by blood.”

So great did the hostility between these two divi-
sions of the settlers soon become, that ¢ the King’s land
in Ireland was on the point of passing away from the
Crown of England,”! and a few years, afterwards a

-statute was passed enacting that ¢ Although as well
those born in Ireland who are of English lineage, as
those born in England and dwelling in Ireland, be true
English ; yet, divers dissensions and maintenancies by
reason of birth, between them that are natives of
Ireland and them that are natives of England have
arisen, whence many evils have heretofore happened,

and it is to be feared that greater will happen, unless

! History of the Viceroys of Ireland, by J. T. Gilbert, Libra-
rian of the Royal Irish Academy, p. 192. From this valuable
work the present sketch of the History of Ireland has been con-
densed,
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a remedy be applied thereto; we will and stedfastly
command, that our Justice, concerning such dissen-
sions shall earnestly enquire, and the delinquents, by
imprisonment of their bodies and grievous ransoms
to be made to us, shall punish and chastise, for that
such disscnsions have no other end but to produce
schism, divisions and treasons among our subjects.”
(31 Ed. III. statute iv. c. 18.)

The Viceroy, on whom the carrying into effect of
these ordinances devolved, summoned a Parliament
to meet in Dublin in October 1341 ; but the Earl of
Desmond,and others of the chief Anglo-Norman Lords
“ English by blood,” refused to attend, and convened
a meeting at Kilkenny. At this they enquired into
the causes of the state of Ireland, and embodied their
-conclusions in a memorial to the King, declaring that
“his Irish enemies had retaken more than one third
of the lands and manors, which had yielded large re-
venues to his predecessors, that they had seized or
levelled many castles, once the defence of the Eng-
lish, and that his subjects in Ireland (meaning of
course the setlers), were reduced to such a state of
poverty, that they could no longer .exist unless some
remedies were devised.” They attributed these evils
“no less to the incessant war waged by the Irish”
than to the frauds of the King’s ministers in Ireland,
and they added that ‘many districts had been
ruined because their proprietors never came thither
from England, nor made any expenditure towards
their maintenance, but sought, by setting them to
farm, to extract all the money they could yield.” In
conclusion, they prayed that the King would not
resume possession of their lands. King Edward com-
plied with their petition.
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In February 1344, Edward, having lost confidence
in his ministers, issued a proclamation forbidding
any-of them to quit Ireland until their conduct had
been looked into, and ordered the seizure of ships
in which they might attempt to escape. A new
Viceroy — Sir Ralph Ufford — was then appointed,
who tried to repress the Irish with vigour. Part of
Kildare being attacked, he proclaimed it penal to
furnish the Irish with horses, victuals, or arms; and
also declared, that he would enforce the ordinance
that there should be only one war and one peace
throughout Ireland, meaning, that he would grant
no truce or peace to one sept, if another were
at war with the colonists. Ufford died in 1346,
and was succeeded by another Viceroy ; but the septs
would not submit, whoever might be the alien ruler
of their land. At last, some of the chief settlers,
forbidden to make themselves Irishmen, and wearied
with everlasting strife with the ancient owners of the
land, prepared to abandon Ireland ; and King Edward,
therefore, in 1353, ordered that no man capable. of
bearing arms should leave the country. Many, how-
ever, did not thus give themselves up to despair, but
continued to live in amity with the Irish, and inter-
married with them. Then was passed that iniquitous
law forbidding such practices, of which an account
has already been given. But it utterly failed to pro-
duce its intended effect.

In the meanwhile, the Irish septs, in districts be-
yond English control, continued to elect their kings
and chiefs according to ancient custom, and obeyed
the Brehon law; and those who were mingled with the
settlers, so harassed them, that they were often unable
to attend the Parliaments, and the King was con-
sequently obliged, in 1359, to allow Parliaments to
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be held in different places. But the enmity between
the * English by blood” and *English by birth”
still went on, and the former married with the Irish,
adopted their language, laws, and dress, and became
bound to them also by  gossipred” and ¢ fosterage.”

In the same year, Edward forbade the election
of any “mere Irish” as mayor, bailiff, or to any
other post in his dominions in Ireland ;! and thus,
the only policy of England seemed to be, to degrade
the Irish in every way. This, however, did not
succeed ; at length, therefore, the King resolved to
send his son to Ireland, and Lionel, created Duke of
-Clarence (to whom he had married Elizabeth, heiress
of William de Burgh, Earl of Ulster), and so called §
from his Lordship of Clare in Suffolk, landed in
Ireland in 1361. Lionel’s first step was to forbid
any man born in Ireland to approach his camp, but
he was soon driven to such straits by the Irish that,
on February 10th, 1362, the King issued writs “de-
claring that his very dear son and his companions
in Ireland were in imminent peril,” and ordering the
absentee Lords to repair to Ireland to assist him.
At last, in Lent 1367, there was passed the famous,
or rather infamous, Statute of Kilkenny, which re-
capitulated all former ordinances, again forbade mar-
riages between the English and Irish, ordered the
use of the English language and Enghsh customs,
and entered with such minuteness into the habits of
.. daily life, that the Irish were forbidden to ride on
horseback, except in saddles according to the English
custom. National games, such as “ hurlings and quoit-
ings,” were forbidden, the practice of the old Irish
system of law, which had been in use since the con-

! Rymer, vol. iii. p. 434.

A.D.1361.

English
by blood,
and
English
by birth.

Lionel *
Duke of
Clarence
goes to
Ireland.

A.D.1367.

——.‘

Statute of
Kilkenny.



A.D. 1357,

16 LIFE AND TIMES OF EDWARD III. Crar. I.

version of the people to Christianity in the fifth cen-
tury,! was made unlawful, and all means were taken
for the utter subjugation of the country. But the
quarrels between the *English by blood ” and “Eng-
lish by birth” were not forgotten, and it was ordered
that the former should not be called ¢Irish dogs”
nor the latter “ English Hobbes.”

Of course this statute did not give peace to Ire-
land, but its history cannot here be further pursued.
It is sufficient, to have shown the origin of the
extraordinary laws relative to Ireland, passed at
this period of the reign of Edward the Third ; and to
have explained the reason, why the English Kings
adopted the policy of forbidding friendship between
the English and Irish.

The general result may be thus summarised. It
is beyond dispute that the land of Ireland was held,
according to the Brehon law, in a way peculiar to
that country, by which every Irishman was considered
to possess a certain proprietorship in it;? that the
English settlers, by order of the English kings,
systematically disregarded that law, and acted as
rapacious conquerors ; and, that when they showed
symptoms of ceasing to do so, the English kings
stepped in, and forbade any approach to friendship
with the Irish. Can it be matter of surprise, then,
that a nation so imaginative, such a worshipper of
tradition, so intensely national as the Irish, refuses to
forget these things, cherishes the recollection of op-
pressions long since past away, and still ignorantly
believes that the right of the whole people to the
soil is not and never can be extinguished ?

! Preface to Ancient Laws of Ireland, vol. i. (Dublin 1865), p. 5.
2 See ante, vol. i.
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CHAPTER II
STATE OF FRANCE AFTER THE BATTLE OF POITIERS.

THE two years’ truce between England and France A.D.
was badly kept on both sides, but the chief blame of '°~*
its imperfect observance must be laid on the English. Non-
Charles of Blois had been released from prison in Eng- it
land in August 1356, just at the time that the Duke 7o
of Lancaster returned to Brittany after his campaign

in Normandy. War between him and the Duke had
immediately broken out, and it continued on until

after the battle of Poitiers. The Duke had laid siege siege of
to Rennes on October 3rd, 1356, and during its B
continuance one of those picturesque incidents, so
characteristic of the times and of chivalry, occurred.

John Bolton, one of the. besiegers, amused himself chivalric
with hawking in the neighbourhood of the city, and i;‘;;gfg“:,,e
one day took six partridges. He then put on his com- siege.
plete armour, mounted his horse, and rode up to the
gates of the city, saying he wanted to see Bertrand du
Guesclin, a man then unknown to fame, but who be-
came eventually the chief support of the French
throne. Bertrand did not appear, but Olivier de
Maunay, a relation probably of the well-known Sir
Walter, came to the gate and asked Bolton whether
he would sell his partridges to some ladies in the town.

“ By my faith,” said Bolton, “if you dare to bargain
a little nearer to me and come so close that we may
! Rymer, vol. iii. p. 335.
YOL. II. c

*



A.D.
1357-59.

Raising of
the siege of
Rennes.

The Duke
of Lan.
caster’s
vow.

18 LIFE AND TIMES OF EDWARD III. Caar. 11,

fight, I will deal with you.” “As God will, ouil,” said
Olivier, “ wait and I will come and pay you.” .He then
came down from the walls to the moat, which was full
of water, and, taking off his gauntlets and leg-armour,
jumped in and swam across. Bolton and Olivier
were not long in beginning their fight, the Duke of
Lancaster and his army looking on on one side,
and the ladies in Rennes, “ who,” as Froissart says,
“took great pleasure in watching them,” on the
other. Bolton was overcome, and Olivier took him
and his partridges into the city. They were both
wounded, but, before they had been long within the
walls, Olivier began to feel that his wounds were
serious, and accordingly told his prisoner that if he
could procure him a safe-conduct for a month he
would set him free. Olivier said he knew of some
herbs which would cure him, but which could not be
obtained in the town. Bolton set off on his errand,
the Duke of Lancaster granted the safe-conduct, and
Bolton then returned to Rennes and came back again
with his captor. The month was spent in the Eng-
lish camp ; the Frenchman was treated by the English
surgeons; and, as soon as he had recovered, returned
to Rennes with great expressions of politeness and
courtesy on both sides.!

The siege of Rennes was still going on when the
truce was made. At the end of the following month,
King Edward wrote to the Duke ordering him to
abandon it, according to the conditions of the truce;
but the Duke had made a vow that he would never
leave Rennes until he had planted his standard on its
walls, and therefore took no notice of the King’s
commands. It consequently became necessary for

! Buchon’s Froissart, vol. i. p. 369.
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Edward to write again, and in a still more decided
manner, on the 4th of July. The Duke then com-
plied. As a matter of form, the garrison allowed his
vow to be carried into effect; the English banner
floated from the ramparts for a short time, and the
siege was then given up.!

At the cxpiration of the truce, war between Eng-
land and France broke out with greater bitterness
than ever. In order, however, to understand the
relative positions of the two countries, it is necessary
to enter, with some little detail, into the history of the
deeply interesting events which took place in France
during its continuance.

The state of France was dreadful. No country ever
suffered under greater calamities, than France after
the battle of Poitiers. The Duke of Normandy and
the nobles cared for nothing but luxury and extrava-
gance; the enormous amount of the taxes which were
imposed, and the debasement of the coin which was
practised to support this wicked folly, spread misery
from one end of the kingdom to the other. The re-
leased nobles made their vassals pay the ransoms
they had promised to their English conquerors, and
the disbanded soldiers formed themselves into Free
Companies, under English as well as French leaders,
and roamed about the country plundering and
ravaging. ‘

The States-General, which had vainly endeavoured,
in the previous year, to introduce reforms into the
administration of the Government of France, met again
on October 17th, 1356, just one month after the battle
of Poitiers; and though the Assembly was again sum-

! Rymer, vol. iii. pp. 353 and 359 ; and Sismondi, vol. x.
p. 505.
‘ c?
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moned only from those speaking the langue doil, it
consisted of more than eight hundred persons, com-
prising nobles, barons, knights, and traders, the tiers
état or bourgeois (among whom were two doctors in
theology) forming at least one-half of the number.
The King’s brother the Duke of Orleans, and his uncle
the Count of Alengon, were present, but neither of
them was chosen president of the Assembly. They
had fled at Poitiers, and were disgraced. Charles
of Blois, Duke of Brittany, who had been released
from his imprisonment in England in the previous
July,! on payment of 25,000 nobles as satisfaction for
the sum of 50,000 gold florins, the agreed amount of
his ransom, was the only Prince who received any
consideration, and was elected President.

The most prominent men in the Assembly were,
Etienne Marcel and Robert Lecoq Bishop of Laon.
Marcel was a merchant draper in Paris, and Pro-
vost of the Merchants. He was a man of remark-

- able character, and, whatever may have been the

"Measures
taken to
defend
Paris,

" ultimate result of his patriotic endeavours to bring

about a better government in France, there can be
no doubt that at this critical period he rendered
great services to the State. It seemed probable that
King Edward would return to France in the spring
and march on Paris, or even that the Black Prince
might at once attack the capital, which was in an
utterly defenceless state. He therefore practised the
inhabitants in the use of arms, the right to which
had been restored to them in 1355, and, under the
authority of the Duke of Normandy, employed
three thousand men in fortifying the city. Robert
Lecog, before becoming a priest, had been the King’s

! Rymer, vol. iii. p. 360.
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advocate in the Parliament of Paris, and no one
was better acquainted with the abuses under which
France suffered, or felt more strongly the necessity
of reforming them.

The States met while the fortification of Paris was
going on. They were too numerous to debate in full

A.Ds
1357-59.

assembly about the measures to be adopted, and a

committee of about eighty members was therefore
appointed for that purpose. The Committee of Nine,
which had been appointed in 1355 for the manage-
ment of the taxes, having been found an insufficient
protection against the royal power, Marcel and Lecoq
declared it necessary to go further, to put down
the great council of the King, to punish the most
guilty of its members, and replace it by a council
elected by the States. Proposals to this effect, which
amounted indeed to a revolution, were then drawn up
by the Eighty and submitted to the States, by whom
they were unanimously approved. The States also de-
clared that it would be for the good of the kingdom if
the King of Navarre were released from prison. These
proposals were to be submitted to the Duke of Nor-
mandy on the 31st of October, but their purport
transpired before that day, and the Duke, contrary
to the advice of Charles of Blois, of the princes of the
blood, and of the principal nobles, determined to re-
sist. He said he had received news from his father
the King, and his uncle the Emperor, which rendered
it desirable to defer the further sitting of the Parlia-
ment till the 3rd of November. The States unfor-
tunately consented, and, on the day before the time
appointed for their re-assembling, the Duke persuaded
them to disperse, under the pretext of giving them
an opportunity of consulting their constituents, and
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of allowing himself time to consult his father. The
golden opportunity was lost.

The Duke summoned the States of the Langue
d'Oc to assemble at Toulouse about this time, hoping
that they would be more submissive; but, although
they were quite ready to provide men and means for
the defence of the country, they were as determined as
the States-General to insist on proper administration.
They reserved to commissioners appointed by them-
selves the right of levying and expending the taxes,
and declared that they would re-assemble when they
pleased, without summonses, to grant subsidies, which
they threatened to withhold if the coin were again
tampered with, They also forbade all persons, of
whatever degree, to wear silver, pearls, or rich furs,
and so deep was the depression of the country that
they even forbade the minstrels and jongleurs to follow
their merry callings for the space of one year, unless
in the meantime the King were released.

The Duke was, however, encouraged in his resist-
ance to the demands of the nation, by the promise of a
subsidy, and by the news he received from Normandy
of the death of Godfrey of Harcourt, who, together
with Philip of Navarre, had, after the battle of Poi-
tiers, begun again to ravage Normandy. The sur-
render of Pont Audemer was a consequence of Har-
court’s death. 'The Duke tried to levy subsidies by his
own offlcers, in defiance of the appointment of the
Committee of Nine; in this he did not succeed, and
therefore, glad to escape from the reformers, and hop-
ing that some favourable result would arise from the
conference, he set off, on the 5th of December, to visit
his uncle, the Emperor Charles the Fourth, at Metz.
While there, he engaged in fruitless negotiations with
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envoys, both from the Pope and King Edward, for
the release of his father; but he spent most of his
time in feasting and extravagance, for which, before
he set out on his journey, he had endeavoured to
find means by debasing the coinage. On the 14th of
January, 1357, the Duke returned to Paris without
any useful result from his visit. The people were
now exasperated, and assembled in the streets in arms.
A revolution was evidently at hand; the Duke, be-
coming frightened, ordered his chief advisers to go
away or hide themselves, called Marcel to the palace,
promised to stop the issue of base money, gave the
deputies of the three orders the right of assembling
when they pleased, and consented to bring to justice
the seven officers of his Council whom the States had
denounced ; provided, as he said, he could find out
where they were. This was on the 20th of January,
1357.

In the meantime, the barons and knights, whom
the English had taken prisoners, had been allowed to
return to their estates to raise the money for their
ransoms, which often amounted to one-half of the
value of their whole property. If they had tried
to sell their estates, they could not have found
buyers ; they could not borrow money, for the Jews
and Lombard bankers had been driven out of the
country; so there was nothing left to them but to
squeeze their vassals. They seized their goods;
they put them to torture to find money; and thus
raised the necessary sums ‘“to buy back,” as Sis-
mondi says, “from the English, certain gentlemen
who were useless to France.” These feudal lords,
however, were not content with extorting money
from the peasants; they also derided their misery.
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“ Jacques bon homme will not pull out his purse
unless you beat him, but Jacques bon homme will
pull out his purse because he will be beaten,” was
the common talk, and Jacques bon homme was thence-
forth the contemptuous designation of the French
peasant.

But the peasants were tormented with another
scourge. The disbanded soldiers of both armies spread
themselves over the country, robbing, pillaging, and
murdering, * stripping naked those to whom the lords
had left a shirt.” The bandit bands into which they
gathered themselves became, in after times, renowned
as “The Companies.” One of these, which at first
infested Provence, was led by Arnaud de Cervolles, a
relation of the Talleyrands of Perigord, who was called
the Archpriest on account of a benefice he held,
although he was a layman ; but the Pope paid him well
to leave Provence, and he then ravaged Burgundy.
Another was formed in Normandy, composed of Eng-
lish and Navarrese, under the command of Sir Robert
Knolles, a man who had risen from a low origin, but by
his marauding activity became at last a great captain ;!
and a third, of men of various nations, was assembled
between the Seine and the Loire, under a Welshman
named Griffiths—called by Froissart Ruffin. These
companies were somctimes called Navarrese,’ and
sometimes English, although both King Edward and
Charles the Bad, King of Navarre, equally disavowed
them. The peasants dug ditches round their villages,
and fortified the churches, placing sentinels in the

! Walsingham, p. 286.
? The Navarrese mercenaries were infamous, as early as the

twelfth century, and condemned by name in the Lateran Council
of 1179.—Ben. Abbas, 1. 228,
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towers, ready to sound the alarm as soon as they caught
sight of an armed man. At night, in the neighbour-
hood of the Loire, they sought refuge in the islands in
the river, or huddled together, with their flocks and
families, in boats which they moored in the stream.
Those living near Paris crowded into that city, leaving
their lands untilled ; and the monks and nuns, whom
the soldiers never spared, also flocked into Paris for
protection. At the same time, Philip of Navarre,
finding that the temporary success which had at-
tended the Royal arms on the death of Godfrey of
Harcourt had not been followed up, had resumed the
offensive. He established himself at Evreux, which
was given up to him by the citizens, who were devo-
tedly attached to his brother the King of Navarre.

It was under these circumstances that the States-
General met again on the 5th of February, 1357 ; but
the danger of travelling was so great, that the attend-
ance of members was much smaller than at the pre-
vious meeting. The paucity of members was, how-
ever, compensated by increased energy. Marcel and
Lecoq were again the leaders. After a month’s
deliberation, the Duke was obliged to listen to an
eloquent address from Lecoq, setting forth the griev-
ances of the nation. He said the people could no
longer endure them, and demanded that twenty-two
of the great officers of the King should be dismissed,
and all the others temporarily suspended ; that good
money should be circulated ; that forced loans should
cease; that justice, which had sometimes been deferred
for twenty years, should be rendered more speedily;
that the offices of justice should not be sold ; that the
judges should not be allowed to receive money from
the great men to shicld their crimes; and that many
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other abuses under which the nation was suffering
should be done away with. He then promised to find
money for 30,000 soldiers for one year, provided the
payment of the men and the carrying into effect of the
reforms were entrusted to a commission of thirty-six
persons, consisting of twelve prelates, twelve nobles,
and twelve citizens, and that the three Estates should
be allowed to re-assemble when they pleased. The
Duke was obliged to yield, but, as he afterwards
declared, did so, hoping at a future time to undo
what he then did against his will. The deputies
obtained leave to take each six armed men with
them, on their return home, for protection against
the King’s officers, who were ready to waylay and
murder them. The only point on which they did
not insist, was the release of the King of Navarre.

The Royal power was now entirely superseded in
Paris ; the Committee of Thirty-six entered vigorously
on their functions, and the revolution seemed com-
plete. One of the first acts of the Committee was,
to assemble fleets at the mouths of the Seine and
Somme, in order to prevent the Prince of Wales from
carrying the King of France off to England. But the
Prince escaped with his prisoners, and a truce for two
years betweenEngland and France was signed on the
23rd of March.

Before leaving France, King John had forbidden
obedience to the decrees of the Estates ; and the Duke
of Normandy ordered this edict to be proclaimed in
Paris, at the same time as the truce. The Parisians
were so enraged at this duplicity, as they justly thought
it, that the Duke was obliged to revoke the King’s or-
ders. He nevertheless easily persuaded the provinces
to refuse payment of the taxes proposed by the Com-
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mittee; and, by sowing dissension between the nobles
and the citizens and between the provincial towns
and Paris, managed to reduce the Council of Thirty-
six to the citizens and to two persons of the other
orders, viz., the Bishop of Laon and the Lord of Pic-
quigni. The Duke then ventured, about the middle
of August, on the bold step of informing the Com-
mittee of Thirty-six, that he intended thenceforth to
govern for himself, without their intervention. The
Committee were unable to resist, but the Duke could not
raise either money or soldiers, and a dead-lock was the
result. The Duke was again obliged to yield, and the
States-General were convoked for the 7th of November.

Marcel now saw that reconciliation with the reign-
ing family was impossible, and resolved to make a
friend of the King of Navarre. He therefore delivered
him from prison, by main force, on the night of the
8th of November. The Duke did not dare to manifest
any anger at this bold step, and gave the King of Na-
varre leave to enter Paris, where he was received with
great joy. He addressed the people, and told them
that, if he felt inclined to claim the throne, he could
show a better title to it than the King of England.
The next morning Marcel, with the consent of the
other deputies of the Third Estate who had remained
in Paris, presented himself before the Duke of Nor-
mandy, and prayed him to restore to the King of
Navarre the towns and castles belonging to him,
which had been confiscated at the time of his arrest.
The Duke was powerless, and, falsely, promised com-
pliance with the request. The King of Navarre then
went to Normandy, to enter into the promised posses-
sion of his domains; but the governors of the castles
refused to deliver them up, without direct orders from
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the King of France. He now saw that he had been
deceived, for he could not doubt that the Duke of
Normandy was a party to this refusal, and therefore
declared he would take possession of his castles by
force. His brother Philip, at the head of 1,000
brigands, came to his aid, and ravaged the country
up to within a few leagues of Paris.

It was at this time that the peasants living near
Paris, harassed by the various ¢ Companies,” crowded
into the city ; and Marcel, fearing lest the brigands
should attack it, and equally fearing that the nobles
would do the same, redoubled his exertions to com-
plete the fortifications. The Duke of Normandy shut
himself up in the Louvre, with 2,000 men in the
tower and its immediate neighbourhood, and took
no part in preparing for the defence of Paris. The
people were enraged at this selfish desertion from his
duty to the country; and, by Marcel’s orders, all
the citizens on his side, preparing for insurrection,
adopted a party-coloured cap of red and blue, in
order that, in case of need, they might recognise
each other.

Again a revolution seemed at hand. Again the
Duke managed to prevent it; but, on this occasion,
he adopted different tactics. He pretended to be a

friend of the people; asked them to meet him on

January 1st, 1358, in. their halls; told them he
wished to live and die with the Parisians ; that, if he
gathered soldiers together, it was not to oppress
Paris, but to defend them against their enemies; that
it was only want of money that had prevented him
from leading his troops against the bandits, and
insinuated that the Committee of Thirty-six had
kept the money from him.



THE LOUVRE IN THE TIME OF CHARLES V.
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Marcel lost not a moment in calling together a
counter-assembly, where he refuted the Duke’s charges,
and the assembly declared, with universal acclama-
tion, that they would support him against all his
enemies. .

The Duke, notwithstanding, made no change in
his proceedings, and acted entirely under the advice
of the very counsellors who were most hated by the
Parisians, and Marcel and his friends came to the
conclusion that it was necessary to put some of them
to death.

The red and blue caps were put on; the tocsin
of Notre Dame sounded the alarm ; and the people
gathered together in arms round the palace. The
first victim was one of the twenty-two proscribed
royal officers, who by accident got entangled in the
crowd. After this, Marcel, at the head of 3,000 armed
men, entered the palace and confronted the Duke. He
called on him to undertake the defence of the king-
dom; the Duke answered that that duty devolved
on those who received its revenues. Angry words
ensued, and Marcel exclaimed, ¢ Sir Duke, be not
astonished at anything you may see, for it is neces-
sary.” Then, turning to the “bonnets,” he said, “ Do
quickly that for which you came here.” The Lord
of Conflans Marshal of Champagne, and Robert de
Clermont Marshal of Normandy, two of the Duke’s
confidential advisers, were murdered on the spot,
and the Duke was glad to escape under the protec-
tion of Marcel, with a red and blue bonnet on his
head.

The blood which had been thus shed, and which
eventually was the ruin of Marcel’s cause, made it
necessary to go on with the revolution. Marcel was
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A.D. master of Paris, but he felt the necessity of a supporter

1357759 belonging to the nobility, and consequently sent to

the King of Navarre to beg him to come to him.

Charles the Bad arrived on the 26th of February,

and expressed his approval of all that had been

done; but Marcel shrunk from placing him on

the throne. He wished rather to secure him as a

friend, against the ill-will which the nobles and the

Duke of Normandy bore against him, than to break

finally with the Duke, and commit himself to a com-

plete revolution. He, therefore, contented himself

with compelling the Duke to compensate the King of

Navarre for his sufferings and his losses. This was

a fatal mistake, but it was succeeded by another still

more serious. Marcel—who acted throughout with

too great a trust in the Duke—allowed him to leave

Paris, to preside over a meeting of the Provincial
Estates.

The States  On  the 9th of April, the Duke met the States of

o oo Champagne at Provins. They were angry at the mur-

the Duke. der of their Marshal, and asked the Duke whether he

had any cause of complaint against him. The Duke an-

swered that he had none, and the States then promised

him their support against the Marshal’s murderers.

Two Parisian deputies who had attended the meeting

of the States, hastened back to Paris to warn Marcel,

who wrote a most touching letter of remonstrance to

the Duke.! This produced no effect, and Marcel,

therefore, lost no time in preparing to defend himself ;

Marcel  he seized the Louvre, drove out the Duke’s supporters,

izes th . .
Touvre.  took possession of the artillery and other arms, shut

! See this most interesting letter in Martin’s France, vol. v.
p. 567. )
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the gates of the city, barred the river with iron chains,
and cleared the ramparts by destroying all the houses
built against them. In order to prevent Paris from
being starved out, he wished to seize Meaux and other
fortified points on the Seine and Marne, but the Duke
was beforehand with him at Meaux.

The Duke now prepared for the siege of Paris, and

A.D.
1357-59.

—

Marcel did the same for its defence. But a new and = -

terrible danger threatened the kingdom, and, for a
time, put an end to all thoughts but those as to the
means of averting it. The Jacquerie had hegun.

. The peasants, oppressed and derided by the nobles,
plundered and outraged by “The Companies,” while
the nobles and gentlemen looked on in security from
their castles without moving a finger to protect them,
had at last felt their burden too heavy to be borne, and
had risen with the ferocity of beasts of prey, to cast
it from them. *Death to all the gentlemen ” was the
cry of an assemblage of peasants in the neighbour-
hood of Clermont. They elected a peasant named
Guillaume Callet as their chief, and armed only with
knives and iron-shod bludgeons, attacked a neigh-
bouring castle, and killed the castellan and his family.
Castle after castle was then attacked in a similar
way, and, just as the thatched cottages had been
burnt and plundered by the ¢ Companies,” so were
the castles now treated by the peasants. The insur-
rection spread like wild-fire; more than 100,000
peasants cast away their spades, and armed them-
selves with rude pikes. No noble sentiment animated
the insurgents ; they were inspired solely by a fierce
desire of vengeance, by a determination to render
outrage for outrage, and they acted in conformity with
the dictates of their excited passions.

The Jac-
querie.
Tts origin;

its pro-
gress.
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The nobles were stupified. Had the flocks under
the charge of the shepherd turned upon him and
trampled him to pieces, he could not have been more
astonished than were the lords at the uprising of
their despised serfs.

Many “rich men ” joined the Jacques with the in-
tention of moderating and directing them, and Marcel
attempted to do the same. He sent 300 Parisians to
assist them in taking the castle of Ermonville, and
succeeded, for once, in restraining their excesses.
Soon, however, this body of the insurgents again
began their massacres, and Marcel thought it right
to withdraw the Parisians. Paris opened its gates,
as a place of refuge, to the nobles who were not
notoriously on the side of those who ¢ wished evil to
the people;” but at the same time Marcel continued
to negotiate with the leaders of the Jacques.! The
Duchess of Normandy had fled to Meaux with 300
ladies, and Marcel, wishing doubtless to seize so great
a prize, determined again to send some Parisians to
help the Jacques in attacking it. The Duke had
strongly fortified the market-place, and his garrison

greatly oppressed the people ; the inhabitants therefore -

entreated the Jacques to come to their rescue. The
mayor opened the gates to the assailants, and nine or
ten thousand furious, half-armed, half-starved peasants
rushed in, accompanied by the Parisians whom Mar-
cel had sent to their assistance. The citizens first fed
the famished multitude, and then led them to the
attack. .

Marcel was aware that the Duke was not at Meaux,
and knew that the garrison was weak; he therefore
expected to be able to carry the market-place by

1 Martin, Hist. de France, vol. v. p. 196.
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a coup de main. But unlooked-for help arrived at
the critical moment. Gaston de Foix, who was one
of the most gallant knights of the time, and who soon
attained a great renown, was returning, accompanied
by the Captal de Buch, from a crusade against the
Pagans of Prussia, who, on the cessation of the Cru-
sades against the Turks, had taken their place as ene-
mies to the Christian faith, and whom true believers
were bound to extirpate. On reaching Chélons, they
heard of the danger which threatened the Duchess,
and hastened to her rescue. They reached Meaux
in safety, and managed to get into the market-place
with a hundred gallant and experienced “lances,”
as the fully-armed horse-soldiers were then called,
before the citizens had begun their attack. The
garrison did not wait for the onslaught of the people,
but, opening the gates, charged against the half-naked
multitude. The poor wretches fought with despera-
tion ; but the fight was nothing but a massacre, the
peasants were slaughtered by thousands, and a fatal
blow was dealt to the Jacquerte. Marcel had made
a bold, but most unwise, venture, and had failed.

The nobles and gentry now plucked up courage,
the insurgent peasants were everywhere attacked,
and the revenge of the nobles at least equalled
that previously taken'by the peasants. It needed
not the English,” says an old French chronicler, “to
destroy the country, for, in truth, the English, ene-
mies of the kingdom, would not have done what the
nobles did.”?

‘Marcel saw, that the time had at length arrived,
when he must finally break with the nobles and the
Duke of Normandy, and secure another ally, who could

1 As quoted by Martin, vol. i. p. 199,
VOL. II. D
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supply him with cavalry, and might even supplant the
Duke. He therefore again turned to the King of
Navarre, and begged him to come to Paris. It was
evident from the speech he made, when previously
summoned to Paris, that the King of Navarre aspired
to the French throne. With the view therefore of
preparing the way for making him a king, Marcel man-
aged tobring about hisappointmentas Captain-General
of Paris as soon as he arrived, and then wrote to all
the great towns of France, asking leave to appoint him
Captain-General of the whole kingdom. Some con-
sented and some refused ; the nobles, who up to that
time had been attached to him, and at whose instance
the King of Navarre had inflicted a terrible massacre
on the Jacques, looking on the cause of the Regent as
identical with their own, held entirely aloof. Marcel
now made another mistake. He called in the help of
the “Companies,” and thus forfeited the confidence of
the people, who on the one hand had a horror of the
bandits, and on the other could not forgive the King
of Navarre for his massacre of the Jacques. The
upper citizens, too, began to fear that they were put-
ting too much power into the hands of the King of
Navarre.!

The King of Navarre was unequal to the occasion.
The Duke of Normandy advanced on Faris, and began
its siege by cutting off the supply of provisions which
came by the Marne and Seine. The King of Navarre,
not daring to seize the prize which seemed within
his grasp, and wishing to make sure of a friend,
negotiated by turns with the King of England and
the Regent of France; he ended at last by selling
himself to the Regent. This man—who well de-
served the name of “The Bad” by which he has

! Martin, vol. i. p. 201.
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descended to posterity—not only agreed, on con-
dition of receiving an immense sum of money, to
leave Marcel and the Parisians to their fate, but also
bound himself to induce them to pay 600,000 crowns
of gold for the ransom of King John, and deepened
the profound abyss of his treachery by consenting that
Marcel and his chief advisers should be given up to
the Duke of Normandy to be done with as he pleased.!

A.D.
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The people were furious; they told the King of The

Navarre that if he deserted them they would do
without him, and that they would not pay one penny
of the ransom. The wretched creature was frightened,
and turned again. He went out, on the 11th of July,
to fight the Duke, and had a sharp combat with his
troops. He thus managed to retain his office as
Captain-General, but did not recover his popularity.
The Duke now established a bridge of boats on the
Seine, below its junction with the Marne, and by this
means entirely prevented provisions from reaching
Paris. Famine soon began, and the King of Navarre
again opened negotiations with the Duke, agree-
ing to terms very disadvantageous to the Parisians.
Again, and with justice, they raged against Navarre,
. and M.rcel made one more mistake in siding with
the King.

An unlucky incident now occurred, which made
matters worse. Some of the bandits hired by Marcel
had, on their way back to Paris, burnt and pillaged the
country up to the very gates of St. Martin, and the
people saw the flames from the walls of the city. The
Parisians, exasperated at this useless savagery, fell on
those who had already entered Paris, murdered twenty
or thirty of them, put the rest in prison, and then went

! Buchon’s Froissart, vol. i. p. 379.
~ D2
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to seize their leader at the Hotel de Nesle, where he
had been dining with the King of Navarre. On
the next day, the 22nd of July, the King of Na-
varre, again obliged to side with the Parisians, was
forced to lead them out against the English, as they
termed the ¢ Companies,” who were encamped in the
Bois de Boulogne, close to Paris. By design or acci-
dent, they fell into an ambuscade, and were routed
with a loss of 600, without receiving any help from
Marcel or from the King of Navarre. This entirely
put an end to any reliance on the King of Navarre on
the part of the Parisians; he did not dare to return to.
Paris, but retired to St. Denis. Marcel also lost their
confidence, by releasing, at the request of the King
of Navarre, the bandits who had been put in prison.
This was on the 27th of July.

The Duke of Normandy now stood aloof, and even
withdrew his troops from the neighbourhood of Paris.
Discord, he well knew, would do more for him than any
action of his own. The ground began to tremble
under Marcel’s feet. He had relied by turns on the
revolted peasants, on the plundering bandits, and
on the wretched King of Navarre. All had failed
him. France was in the greatest danger; at the ex-
piration of the truce Edward was sure to return, and
certain to conquer, if unity among the French were not
restored. The people began to turn their thoughts
to the Duke of Normandy, and Marcel was actually
compelled by the Parisians to write to him to entreat
his return to Paris to protect them against the Na-
varrese. The Duke answered that he would never
enter Paris so long as the murderer of the Marshals
was alive. The letter was put into Marcel’s hands.
Marcel, abandoned or suspected by all, now took the last
fatal step of throwing himself once more into the arms
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of the King of Navarre. He offered to introduce him
secretly into Paris on the night of the 31st of July,
and proclaim him King of France. It was the final
effort of a man who had struggled nobly for the best
interests of his country, and who had failed, partly
because he was yielding and moderate when he should
have been firm and uncompromising, partly because
he made use of men from whom he should have
shrunk, but mainly because the man, on whom he
most relied, was a mercenary traitor and unequal to
the part he was called on to perform.

In order to secure the entry of the Navarrese, it
was necessary to change the guards of the gates,
through which they were to pass. On the appointed
night, therefore, Marcel, with fifty or sixty com-
panions, all armed, presented themselves at the Porte
St. Denis, and told the keeper of the keys to give
them up to Josseran de MAcon, the treasurer of the
King of Navarre. This was refused; a quarrel en-
sued, during which Jean Maillart, guardian of that
quarter of Paris, and a partisan of the Duke of
Normandy, came up and forbade the delivery of the
keys. Maillart then, mounting his horse cried out,
“ Montjoie St. Denis for the King and the Duke,” and
rode off to the Halls of the people to raise them against
Marcel. The Royalists had arranged their plans more
perfectly than Marcel, and his plot had been discovered.

‘When Marcel and his party found that their coup
d'état had failed, they tried to take possession of the
Portes St. Martin and St. Honoré. At the former they
met with a vigorous resistance. It was midnight.
Maillart came up at the moment of their arrival and
cried out to Marcel, “Etienne! Etienne! what are you
doing here at this time of night ?” “John, what is that
to thee ?” replied Marcel, adding, “ I am here to take
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pagne and Lorraine, and drove them out of Cham-
pagne ; the death of Picquini, one of their leaders,
who was assassinated by one of his own men, freed
Picardy; the Duke of Normandy attacked Melun, a
town occupied by a Navarrese band of these robbers.
At this siege the Duke of Normandy availed himself of
the services of a man, whom, with rare discrimination,
he picked out, against the opinion of almost all the
lords who accompanied him. He was a person rough
in looks, rude in his manners, and unmistakably a
peasant in appearance. But the Duke saw the genius
of the man, and secured Bertrand du Guesclin to his
cause.! His value to the Royal arms soon became
apparent. Melun however was not taken, and the
Duke opened negotiations with the King of Navarre.
He succeeded to such an extent, and so suddenly,
that his brother Philip of Evreux believed he had
been subjected to sorcery. The King himself declared
he was inspired by the Holy Ghost, and was resolved
to be a good Frenchman and no longer make war on
France. His protestations were lies, as his subse-
quent conduct proved ; and it is difficult to imagine
what can have induced him thus to pretend a change
of policy which he, almost immediately, abandoned.
His utter falsity and want of principle is the only solu-
tion of the problem. His temporary defection from the
opponents of the Duke of Normandy had but little
effect, except to induce his mercenary troops to range
themselves under the banner of the English. Still,
when Edward landed at Calais on October 28th, 1359,
France, though unable to offer a successful opposition
to the English arms, was yet, not so utterly defence-
less, as he would have found it in the previous year.

1 See Martin’s France, vol. i. p. 243, for an interesting account
of Du Guesclin. -
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CHAPTER IIIL

EDWA}D’S SECOND INVASION OF FRANCE—THE PEACE OF
BRETIGNI, AND RELEASE OF KING JOHN.

DuriNg the two years which elapsed between the A p.1sso.
arrival of the King of France in England as a pri-
soner, and the recommencement of the war between

the two countries, England was peaceful and pro-
sperous. The enmity between England and Scotland state of
had been put an end to by -the release of King gl
David; the disturbed state of Ireland did not affect ‘l’,‘;l.‘t'fe;f
the tranquillity of England; and there are no traces

to be found of remarkable events, or important legis-

lative enactments, during this period. Labourers
indeed were still striving with employers about

the rate of wages—as they have striven to this very

day, and will continue to strive to the world’s end,
unless some master mind should discover the true
principle for its settlement—and trade was strug-

gling against vain attempts to regulate its course

by governmental action, but during all this time

there was nothing to disturb the peaceful progress

of the nation.

The royal prisoners were well and courteously Treatment
treated, and no restraint was put on them beyond o ing
what was absolutely necessary for their safe keeping, Ereland
From the palace of the Savoy where they were first
lodged, John and his son Philip were allowed to

go to Windsor, where they followed the chase, and



42 LIFE AND TIMES OF EDWARD III.  Cmar. III.

ADasss. amused themselves with hawking and other sports,
~  and while there, a great tournament was held, at
which they were present. They were afterwards
removed to Hertford and from thence to Somerton

in Lincolnshire.
Deathof  The only other domestic events of general interest
i’)fot.l.':ge, which happened about this time were, the death of the
King’s mother Queen Isabella, and the marriage of
the King’s fourth son John. The Queen died at
Risings on August 22nd, 1357, after nearly thirty
years’ confinement in that castle, and was buried in

Queen
Isabella.

London, on the 27th of September.! Such was the
state of London at this time that it was necessary
to order Bishopsgate Street and Aldgate Street to
be cleansed of ordure and other filth for the passage
Marrisge Of the body.? The marriage of the King’s son John,

the church of the Grey Friars (now Christ Church)

of Jobn of called of Gaunt, from Ghent where he was born, took -

Gaunt,

of Richmond. He married Blanche, daughter and
co-heir of Henry Duke of Lancaster, great-grandson
of Henry the Third, and thus became the head of
{ the House of Lancaster, and is known to this day as
‘Shakspeare’s “ John of Gaunt, time-honoured Lan-
| caster.”

Negotia- ©  On January 17th, 1359,2 Sir Walter de Maunay

;::;’ef" was sent to France to negotiate for the extension of
the truce which was to expire on the 13th of April;
on the 18th of March it was prolonged till the 25th
of June, in order to give an opportunity for its

1 Sandford’s Genealogical History, p. 146.

3 It is singular that the date of this order given in Rymer
(vol. iii. p. 4]1)15 November 20, 1358

3 Rymer, vol. iii. p. 417.

place on June 14th, 1359. He was then only Earll

(
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conversion into a permanent treaty of peace. As al-
ready stated, King Jidward and King John had come
to an understanding as to the conditions on which
the war should cease ; the Duke of Normandy rejected
these terms at the end of May, and Edward lost not a
day in preparing for the renewal of the war. So little
confidence indeed had he that the negotiations would
succeed, that he had anticipated their failure, by be-
ginning his preparations for war, at the very time
that he was negotiating for peace.

As usual, a large number of bows and arrows was
the first thing needed, and at the beginning of the
year, on the 2nd and 12th of January, and again on
the 16th of May, they were ordered to be bought in
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all parts of the kingdom.! About the same time, -

on the 12th of January, above 1,700 *well-armed”
Welshmen were called out; carpenters, and miners
were summoned from the Forest of Dean, on the 1st of
February ; and so early as the 8th of December of
the preceding year, ships had been collected for con-
veying troops ; “ because, for the carrying on of our
war in France, we intend soon to go to foreign
parts with our army.”? Some months subsequently,
after the rejection of the offers of peace, nearly 900
sailors were gathered together for the manning of
the ships, the largest number for any one ship being
100 for the “ New St. Mary.” On the 10th of July?
carpenters, masons, and other artificers were ordered
to accompany the army ; and indeed the most unusual
preparations were made to provide the invaders
with everything they could require. Edward knew
that, such was the devastated state of France, he

! Rymer, vol. iii. pp. 414, 415, and 426. 2 Ibid. p. 412.
3 Ibid. p. 431

which are
unusually
varied and
extensive.
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A.D.1359. could not rely on it for any of the necessary supplies.
~  Mills for grinding corn, ovens for baking bread,
forges for shoeing horses, and small boats made of
jacked leather, each capable of holding three men, to
be used for fishing—fish being an indispensable
article of food on fast days and in Lent—were among
the requisites which they took with them ; in addition
to all sorts of things which, as Froissart! says,
“had never before been taken with an army.” Eight
thousand cars, each drawn by four horses, is the
incredible number of carriages stated 2 to have been
provided for carrying them. Such, however, was
the spirit of pastime which characterised even war in
those days, that means and appliances for enjoying
Hawks  the sports of the field were not forgotten. The King
bounds  took with him thirty falconers on horseback with
taken.  their falcons, and sixty couples of strong hunting
dogs, in addition to as many greyhounds,  with
which,” as Froissart says, “he went every day to
the chase or to the river as he pleased.”
Thesafety It was as necessary, however, to take measures for
;’fnﬁ“p‘i; the safety of England during the absence of the King
vided for. with so large an army, as it was to provide for the
successful invasion of France. Edward therefore,
on October 3rd, 1359, ordered the chief men in their
Allmen | Tespective counties, to ‘“array” all men between the
?2‘;’:;"4 ages of sixteen and sixty, who were to be ready
years of ) when summoned by beacon fires on the hills to re-
arrayed in gjst enemies within those districts, and to practise
their re- . .
spective them in the use of their weapons; but they were
countie:  not to be taken out of their own hundred, except
in the case of actual invasion. These men were

to be gathered together, the knights under their
! Buchon’s ed. vol. i. p. 417. 2 Ibid. p. 427.
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constables, who usually had the command of 100
men,! and the foot soldiers in hundreds and twenties.
Those who possessed land to the value of fifteen
pounds a year, and cattle of the annual value of
sixteen marks, were to be armed with a haubergeon,
which was a shirt of mail smaller than the hauberk.?
They were also to have an iron helmet, sword, and

A.D.1359.

Directions
as to the
weapons
they were
to carry.

dagger, and were to be provided with a horse. Those -

whose land was worth only twenty marks a year were
to be armed in the same way, but were to fight on
foot. They who held land of the yearly value of 100
shillings were to have a pourpoint, or gambeson, which
was “a quilted coat used either alone or with other
armour,”? an iron helmet, a sword and a dagger.
Those again whose holding did not exceed from 80
to 100 shillings in annual value were to be armed
with a sword, dagger, and bows and arrows. They
who held still less land were to have a spear, hand
axe, a dagger and other “ minute arms;” but if
they had only cattle of less than twenty marks’ yearly
value, they were to have nothing but a sword,
dagger, and other minute arms. All others were
to have bows and arrows according to their station ;
excepting that they who had property exceeding
the values thus enumerated were to be armed ac-
cording to the value of their tenure.* In consequence,
however, of a supposition that those having land and
tenements of more than the annual value of fifteen
pounds were excused from service, it was ordered,
that all able-bodied men within the specified ages
should be arrayed, and that those who were unable
to serve on account of infirmity, should find weapons
and armour for those who had none of their own.

! Hewitt’s Ancient Armour, vol. i. p: 215. 2 Ibid. p. 131.
3 Ibid. pp. 127 and 239. 4 Rymer, vol. iii. p. 449,
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The rejection of Edward’s overtures for peace soon
became widely known. Swarms of adventurers con-
sequently flocked to Calais—from Germany, Flanders,
Brabant, and Hainault, and offered their services to
the King of England ; in order that, under his name,
they might pillage the kingdom of France. They would
have been equally ready to fight for France against
England, if France would have paid them ; but the
Duke of Normandy was not disposed to avail himself
of their services, and indeed made no preparation to
resist the English, except that of fortifying Paris.
These adventurers began to arrive in August, and
were greatly disappointed when they found that Ed-
ward had not reached Calais. They were told each
week that the King was coming during the next,
but the next week came and the King did not arrive.
They soon spent all the money they brought with
them, and then became so dangerous that Edward,
hearing of their discontent, feared they would even
attack Calais. They outnumbered the garrison ;
Edward therefore recalled the Duke of Lancaster
from Brittany, and sent him to Calais with 400
men-at-arms, and 2,000 bowmen and Welshmen, to
keep these adventurers in order. On his arrival,
the Duke told them it was of no use to idle away
their time at Calais, and that they had better join
him in a raid in Artois and Picardy. He thus
managed to keep them employed until the King
landed. _

At last, all was ready for the King’s departure from
England. The troops destined for the invasion were
on board the fleet ; the safety of the kingdom during
the King’s absence was provided for, and Edward
embarked with his four sons, Edward the Black
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Prince, Lionel Duke of Clarence, John of Gaunt, and
Edmund of Langley. Before doing so he appointed
his youngest son, Thomas of Woodstock, then under
five years of age, nominal guardian of the kingdom.
The Queen was left in England. King Edward set
sail from Sandwich on the morning of October 28th,
1359, ¢ between daybreak and sunrise,” and reached
Calais the same evening.!

According to Matteo Villani,? the number of the
King’s army exceeded 100,000 men. Froissart does
not give the total number of the troops, but he does
of some of the “ battles,”® He states that the order
of march was as follows:—First; a body of 500 men
went forward to clear and open out the roads and
cut down thorns and bushes to make way for the
cars; then came the Constable, the Earl of March,
with 500 men-at-arms and 1,000 bowmen; after
these, the “battle” of the marshals, consisting of

A.D.1359.

Number of
the troops.

3,000 mnen-at-arms and 5,000 bowmen; then the

King’s ‘“battle,” the number of which is not given,
and then the cars carrying the baggage, which ex-
tended for two leagues in length ;* and, last of all,
the “battle” of the Prince of Wales and his brothers,
consisting of 2,500 men-at-arms, * nobly mounted and
richly caparisoned.” It is remarkable that they were
apparently unprovided with bombards and the other

1 Rymer, vol. iii. p. 452, ? Tom. iv. p. 238.

3 Vol i. p. 417.

4 Froissart (vol. i. p. 427) says that there were 8,000 cars, each
drawn by four horses, and (at p. 417) that they extended for two
leagues, that is about six English miles, or under 11,000 yards.
This would give only about four feet for each car and horses,
unless, which is unlikely, they went several abreast. Itisevident
therefore that Froissart’s two statements are inconsistent, and it is
probable that the error lies in the reckoning up of the numbers of
the cars.
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A.D.135%. new engines of war. They marched in close ranks,

They are
met by the
Duke of

ready for fighting, ‘never left even a boy behind
without waiting for him,” and their rate of march was
about three leagues a day. ¢ There was such a mul-
titude that the whole country was covered with them,
and they were so richly armed and apparelled that
it was a wonder and great pleasure to look at the
shining arms, the floating banners, and their array
marching in order of battle at a slow pace.”

When they had marched about four leagues they
were met by the Duke of Lancaster, who, on hearing

eLancaster. f the landing of the King, had turned back to Calais,

Dispersion
of the
foreign ad-
venturers,

¢

hoping that Edward would be able to satisfy the
clamorous demands of his troops of adventurers for
money. The raid had been unsuccessful. They had
been able to seize food enough to support themselves,
but had taken no plunder, elther of goods or money.
The leaders immediately sought the presence of the
King, and represented to him their extreme poverty ;
they said they had spent almost all their money and
been obliged to sell their horses and their harness, and
had not even money enough to return to their own
countries. The King, anxious, doubtless, to get rid
of such troublesome friends, persuaded them to go to

' Calais to rest and refresh themselves for a few days,
|and promised to send them an answer to their en-

treaties. They followed his advice, and, after a, few
days, he sent to say that he did not require their ser-
vices, but that they might join his army, without
wages, if they pleased. He, however, told them that
they should have a handsome share of the plunder.
A portion of them accepted the proposal, although
unwillingly, and the King continued his march.?

! Bucéhon’s Froissart vol. i. p- 416.
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No great army opposed his progress ; nor did even
flying troops attempt to harass him on his way.
The Duke of Normandy shut himself up in Paris.
Either he feared to encounter so mighty a host as
that which was now marching at its ease, hunting
and hawking, through the very heart of the king-
dom, or, he thought it his best policy to allow the
invaders to exhaust themselves and goad the people
to resistance, by wandering like robbers over the
poverty-stricken land. Each city prepared to defend
itself ; but it was only when Edward thought fit to
attack a town that he had any fighting. ‘His army
suffered dreadfully from the utterly wasted state of
the country, which had not been tilled for three
years, and from the consequent difficulty of getting
provisions. It was supplied with wheat and oats from
Hainault and Cambray ; although the Flemings—by
the orders, doubtless, of their Count—had driven the
English merchants out of Brabant, and expelled those
citizens of Bruges who, having promised to supply
the English army with food,! had consequently been
taken by Edward under his special protection.?

In addition to the sufferings occasioned by the
scarcity of food, the weather added to their misery.
The rain poured down in ceaseless torrents. It was
the end of autumn, and winter was coming on; but
Edward was determined not to leave France, until
he had either gained the throme, or recovered the
ancient possessions of the English Crown, and the
difficulties of a winter campaign did not deter him
from this object.

His plan was, first to reach the almost holy city
of Rheims, where the Irench kings were always

! Knighton, col. 2620. ? Rymer, vol. iii. p. 452.
VOL. II, E
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AD.1359. crowned, and where he too was resolved to be

Rbeims acknowledged the lawful King of France.! He
andbe  marched through Artois, Picardy, and Champagne,
there.  following the course of the rivers, with scarcely any-
fighting, and arrived before Rheims at the end of
November. The city was too strongly fortified to

be carried by assault, and, as the dreadful state of the

.Htgaahr;xl;e: weather prevented a regular siege, Edward quar-
" tered his troops in the surrounding abbeys and vil-

lages, sitting down, as the phrase is, before the town,

while small detached parties of his troops, for pastime

as well as plunder, attacked first one town and then

another in the neighbourhood. The Duke of Nor-

The Duke mandy made no attempt to dislodge him. The

;f};g; policy of inaction, prompted by wisdom or cowardice,

does not  or possibly by necessity, was the course he adopted.
him. He had. indeed enough to do to hold his own in
Paris; but his difficulties arose from the indignation of
the people, at having for their ruler a man who would
Conspi- Dot raise a finger to defend his country. A conspiracy
ey was set on foot, by those who had been Etienne Mar-
cel’s friends, to give up Paris to the King of Navarre.
Charles was by no means the man for the occasion,
but the people thought he could not be so weak
and helpless as the Regent. 'They therefore resolved
to supplant the latter, and, probably, make Charles
King of France. The plot was found out ; the leader
The King of the conspiracy executed ; the King of Navarre fled
deslares from Paris and declared war against the Duke; and
agamst  thus, as Froissart says, “ the noble kingdom of l*rance

the Duke. wag harassed with war on all sides.” 2

1 Sismondi, vol. x. p. 566.

2 Buchon’s Froissart, vol. i. pp. 423 (note), 428; Snsmondl, vol.
x. p. 566 ; and Martin, vol. v. p. 224.
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Edward had hoped that, by threatening Rheims, he
would provoke the Duke of Normandy to give him battle.
In this he did not succeed, and, being unwilling to
- lay siege to Rheims in regular force during the winter,
at last determined to give up all idea of taking that
city, and lay siege to Paris itself, after making a raid
through some of the most fertile parts of France. He
accordingly broke up his camp at Rheims on January
11th, 1360, and, passing under the walls of Chélons
on the Marne, Bar-le-duc, and Troyes without attack-
ing them, entered Burgundy and took Tonnerre and
Flavigny by assault. He then retraced his steps,
encamped at Guillon on the Serain on the 19th of
February, and remained there, on the confines of
Burgundy, for about three weeks.

While at Guillon, Edward received offers of peace
from the Duke of Burgundy, which he willingly
accepted, as it was of great importance to detach the
first peer of the kingdom of France from its sove-
reign. The Duke was induced to take this step,
partly by the wish to save his duchy from devasta-
tion, and partly by the persuasion of his mother,
King John’s second wife, who had never loved the
Duke of Normandy. The Burgundians promised to
pay Edward a large sum, and to give no help to the
Duke of Normandy in either arms or money. The
treaty was signed on March 10th, 1360.!

Although the Duke of Normandy made no effort
to drive the English out of France, some of the
French, availing themselves of the supposed defence-
less state of the country in the King’s absence,
invaded England. They landed at Winchelsea ¢in

! Rymer, vol. iii. p. 473.
E 2
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great numbers” ! (:on March léfl, 1360,2 while the
people were hearing mass. They broke into the
church, and committed the most horrible atrocities ;
set the town on fire and ravaged the neighbourhood ;
but, at length, the troops and people round about
gathered together, and drove the invaders into the sea
with a heavy loss.?

As already stated, Edward had made ample pre-
parations for such an event before he left England,
and his little son, the guardian of the kingdom, or
rather able governors in his name, were not slow in
turning them to account. On the 2nd of March* a pro-
clamation, issued from Westminster in the Guardian’s
name, stated that, whereas he had learned that his
enemies the French, with a multitude of armed men
of all kinds, were at that time actually on board a
great fleet, and proposed to land at Southampton,
Portsmouth, Sandwich or elsewhere, he ordered the
armed men of the maritime counties to go to the
coast. On the same day, however, instead of ordering
the fleet to sea, a course was adopted which was at
once unintelligible, cowardly, and singularly incon-
sistent with a subsequent order. He directed all the
towns on the sea coast, to draw up their ships and
boats on land, far from the sea, in order to save
them from seizure. On the 15th of March the Go-
vernment having heard of the landing of the French
and the capture of Winchelsea, and roused doubt-
less by their brutal atrocities, issued an order from

! Rymer, vol. iii. p. 476.
2 Jdibus Martii, Walsingham, p. 287.

3 Knighton, co'. 2622, and see Nicolas’ Brit. Navy, vol. ii.
p- 125.

4 Rymer, vol. iii. p. 471.
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Reading,’ commandmg the northern fleet to go to A.D.1360.
sea, and join the western fleet. About the same
time the castles of Old Sarum, Marlborough, and
Pevensey were garrisoned and provisioned. Some
of the armed men were ordered up to London either
for its defence, or to be in readiness to go to sea
and attack the French ships; others to various
places on the coast, and these were directed to take
their provisions with them when they embarked.
The English ships in Flemish harbours were called
back to England; all vessels in the harbours on
the Southern and KEastern coasts were ordered to
be in readiness to go to sea; and “ Brother John
de Pavely,” Prior of the Hospital of St. John in
Jerusalem, was appointed ¢ Captain” of the fleets.
The collectors of the tenths and fifteenths were urged
to greater activity in collecting the taxes, and were
ordered to give the men one month’s pay in advance ;2
the royal prisoners were removed for greater security
from Somerton Castle to Berkhamsted;® and the
King of France was taken to the Tower of London.
These active measures evidently prevented any
serious danger to England, for there is no record of
any renewal of the attempts at invasion.

‘/ It seems hardly possible that the invasion can have taken
place on the 15th March, as Walsingham states, as the order
mentioned in the text is dated from Reading on that very day,
aid speaks of the invasion as having ¢ lately” taken place
“noviter invadentes.” On the other hand, it seems equally cer-
tain that it did not take place on Feb. 24th, as Knighton (col.
2622) states: “Die Sancti Mathiee Apostoli in Quadragesima
Franci applicuerunt apud Winchelse ad summam xx mill. arma-
torum virorum (!?),” because the Guardian’s proclamation of
March 2nd speaks of the invasion as a probable future event.

? Rymer, vol. iii. pp. 477-482. 3 Ibid. pp. 470 and 485.
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AD.1360.  After signing the treaty with the Duke of Bur-
biwara gundy, Edward began his march on Paris. He
?:rpc:; descended the Serain, the Yonne, and the Seine, and
encamped close to Paris, at Chétillon, a place near
Montrouge. The Regent immediately ordered the

three suburbs of Paris, St. Germain, St. Marcel, and
Notre-Dame-des-Champs, to be burat, in order to
prevent their being seized by the English ; but he

made no attempt to attack the invaders. Edward

then sent heralds to demand of the Duke to give him

The Duke battle; but the Duke refused, and even forbade his
:,%“m knights to pass the barriers, when Sir Walter de
batle, . Maunay came skirmishing up to the very gates of
pece.  the city. He also rejected, with a confident folly
which soon brought its own punishment, all Edward’s
overtures of peace, notwithstanding that their accept-

Condition ance was pressed on him by his own subjects. The
of France gtate of France as described by Petrarch, who visited
time. it about this time, was horrible. “I could not be-
lieve,” he says, *that this was the same kingdom

which I had once seen so rich and flourishing. No-

thing presented itself to my eyes but a fearful solitude,

an extreme poverty, land uncultivated, houses in

ruins. Even the neighbourhood of Paris manifested
everywhere marks of destruction and conflagration.

I The streets are deserted ; the roads overgrown with

{.weeds; the whole is a vast solitude.”

Edward The King of England was not inclined, however,
:fit;;to to besiege Paris in regular form at that time; for
ﬁ’,ﬁﬁf,';h his army needed rest. It had been encamped or
France,  marching for five months at the worst season of

:regePari- the year; the weather during part of the time had
in the
autumn,

1 Mem. de Petrarque, t. iii. p. 541, as quoted by Hallam,
Middle Ages, vol. i. p. 54 (note)
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been unusually bad ; and provisions were scarce. It
is therefore hardly to be wondered at that Edward
announced his intention of descending the. Loire,
living on the rich country through which it flowed,
of “ refreshing himself” on the .promising harvests
in Brittany, and returning to besiege Paris in the
autumn. On the 10th of April he began his march.

The Duke of Normandy now became seriously
alarmed ; acting under the Pope’s advice, he sent ne-
gotiators after Edward to treat for peace, They over-
took him at Chartres. = At first, Edward would listen
to nothing except his recognition as King of France ;
but the Duke of Lancaster persuaded him to moderate
his demands, and it-is said—with much probability,
considering the supetstitious spirit of the times—that
an awful storm which came on during the negotia-
tions, and daring whieh there fell hailstones so large
that men and horses were killed by them, contributed
to soften the King’s heart. He looked on the storm
as a special interposition of Providence to stop the
bloodshed and sufferings of the people, and consented
to make peace on more moderate terms. A treaty of
peace was accordingly signed at Bretlgm on the 8th
of May.! -

By this celebrated and most important treaty, it
was agreed, that the whole of the ancient duchy of
Aquitaine, which Henry the Second acquired on his
marriage with Eleanor (the divorced wife of Louis
the Seventh of France) in 1152, and part of which
had been recovered from King John by Philip
Augustus'in 1205 and 1206, should be restored, and
given up in full sovereignty, to Edward. This com-

A.D. 1360.
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prised, what was then called the Duchy of Guienne, in -

.} Rymer, vol. iii. p. 487. -
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which the ancient province of Gascony was included ;
the county of Poitou, which comprehended Saintonge,
including Aunix and Rochelle; the viscounty of
Limosin ; the county of Angoumois; Perigord, inclu-
ding Agenois and Quercy ; and the counties of Bigorre
and Rouergue.! The Counts of Foix, Armagnac, Lille
Jourdain and Perigord; the Viscounts of Carmaing
and Limoges ; and the other Lords, who held fiefs in
the counties given up, were to transfer theit homage
from the King of France to the King of England. In
addition to these territories thus surrendered to the
King of England in the South of France, a small
territory round Calais, composed of the counties of
Ponthieu and Guines and of the viscounty of Mon-
treuil, was also to be given up to Edward in full so-
vereignty. On the other hand, Edward renounced
his pretensions to the throne, and gave up all claim
or title to the ancient possessions of the Plantagenets
north of the Loire, including Normandy, Touraine,
Anjou and Maine. Each King renounced his preten-
sions to the homage of Brittany and Flanders ; John
of Montfort was to have all the territories held by
his father beyond the limits of the Duchy of Brittany ;
and his claims and those of Charles of Blois, to the
Duchy, were to be considered by the two Kings at
Calais, where they were to meet at the end of four
months for the payment of the first instalment of the
ransom of the King of France.?

King John’s ransom was fixed at three million
crowns of gold, of which 600,000 were to be paid
before the King could leave Calais, and 400,000 each
year till all was paid.

1 See Spruner’s Hand Atlas, No. 25.
? Rymer, vol. iii. p. 487.
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Among other conditions, it was also provided, that A.D.1s60.
intimate alliances should be formed between the two ~—
Kings, “ notwithstanding any alliances they might
have with the Flemings, Scots, or others;! and, in
order to enable them to get rid of any solemn obli-
gations they might have contracted, the Pope absolved
them, on the 2nd of July, from any oaths which were
contrary to the articles of peace.”?

The treaty was signed on the 8th of May ; the Eng-, King
lish army marched for Calais; and the King sailed s ummeto
for England. He landed at Rye in the evening of the | Eogland.
18th of May, and forthwith mounted his horse and -
rode to the palace of Westminster, where he arrived |
at about 9 o'clock next morning.® His first act
was the release of the King of France. Some time
however elapsed before King John availed himself of
his liberty. He had found his imprisonment in Eng-
land by no means irksome, and it was not until the
8th of July that he was conducted to Calais by the KingJohn
Prince of Wales and the Duke of Lancaster. The Catais.
Duke of Normandy came from Paris to St. Omer, at
the same time, for the purpose of carrying the treaty
into execution. But, in the ruined condition of France,
it was impossible to find, within the kingdom, money!

enough to pay the ransom ; the Prince of Wales and Money for
ransom

]

the Duke of Lancaster therefore returned to England, cannot be

leaving the King of France at Calais, in the custody of reised.
Sir Walter de Maunay. The ambition of an Italian

noble got the French out of their difficulty. Galeazzo Obtained
n pa

Visconti, Lord of Milan, one of the most powerful of from Itaty /.-

those tyrants who, for a century, had been striving to :’i’;;’:;

. L . IS
convert the Italian republics into hereditary princi -

1 Rymer, vol. iii. p. 492. 2 Ibid. p. 501.
3 Ibid. p. 494.

)
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palities, conceived that it would be an advantage to
him to form an alliance with the descendants of St.
Louis. He therefore demanded the hand of King
John's third daughter Isabella in marriage for his son
John Galeazzo,! promising to pay 600,000 florins of
gold on the marriage taking place. The people ot
France were indignant at what they considered a
mercenary bargain; but the offer was accepted, the
money was paid, and the marriage took place about
the 8th of October.?

The Italian gold was not sufficient, however, to pay
the whole of the ransom, and it was necessary to find
hostages for the payment of the remainder. These
were, the King’s brother the Duke of Orleans; his
second and third sons whom he now created Dukes
of Anjou and Berri; the Counts of Alengon, Saint
Pol, Harcourt, Auvergne; Guy of Blois and other
nobles; four citizens of Paris and two from each of
the eighteen principal towns of the kingdom.? At
last all was in readiness, and the King of England
landed at Boulogne on the 9th of October in order to
be present at the formal release of his royal prisoner.
A fortnight was passed in festivitics, and in finally
settling and signing the treaty of peace and other
necessary documents. In a formal deed, dated the 24th

- of October, Edward again agreed to renounce, among

" othér claims on:France, all pretensions to the crown

arid kingdom, as provided by the 12th article of the
original treaty signed at Bretigni in May.* In com-

1 He became the first Duke of Milan in 1395, His sister
Violante married Edward’s son, Lionel Duke of Clarence, in 1368.

2 Cronica di Matteo Villani, t. iv. p. 317

3 Buchon’s Froissart, vol. i. p. 451,

4 Rymer, vol. iii. p. 489.
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pliance with this understanding, Edward did not then
call himself King of France, as he had previously done,
but gave that title to King John.! It was also pro-
vided that King John should also renounce all right
over the ceded provinces. As will be seen in the
sequel, these mutual renunciations were never made.?

The affairs of Brittany were almost the only matter
left unsettled.. The treaty between the two pretenders
was prolonged ; the two kings were to examine into
their respective rights, and endeavour to mediate be-
tween them; but, if no settlement could be made in
the course of a year, they were then to be at liberty
to do whatever they pleased ; the friends of each were,
under those circumstances, to be free to help them if
they were so inclined, without hindrance from either
king, and this was not to be a case of war between the
two kings; the homage of Brittany was to belong to
the ng of France? Arrangements were made for
the evacuation of the fortresses, held in France by
the kings of France and England, which were respec-
tively to be given up. The ransom was then paid ;
the hostages were delivered; and on the 25th of
October the King of France left Calais a free man.
Shortly afterwards, the King of England embarked
for England, with his sons and the hostages, and
landed at Dover

Thus ended the first great epoch of the war be-
tween England and France; and, deep indeed must
have been the misery and humiliation of the latter
country, to induce it to consent toso disadvantageous
a treaty as that of Bretigni. Almost a third of the

! Rymer, vol. iii. p. 521.
2 Tbid. vol. i, p. 529.
3 Ibid. vol iii. p. 516.
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A.p.1360. kingdom was given up to the English; an enormous

sum of money was to be paid for the King’s ransom ;
and the very flower of the land went into capti-
vity as hostages for its fulfilment. But the treaty
filled France with joy. The King was everywhere
received “ greatly and nobly;” on his arrival in
Paris, on the 13th of December, ¢ beautiful gifts and
rich presents” were laid before him; and he was
feasted and visited by all the chief prelates and
barons of his kingdom.!

The prisoners were received in London with the
greatest courtesy. During their residence in England
they were allowed to amuse themselves with the
chase, they visited the lords and ladies as they pleased,
and were subject to no restraint, except such as
was absolutely necessary to prevent their escape to
France.?

! Buchon's Froissart, vol. i. chap. 140.
? Ibid. p. 451.
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CHAPTER 1IV.

FROM THE PEACE OF BRETIGNI, TO THE CREATION OF THE
DUKE OF AQUITAINE.

NorwiTHSTANDING the signature of the formal and
elaboraté treaty of Bretigni, the peace between the
two countries rested on no very sure foundation.
The King of England was lord over nearly as much
of France as the King of France himself. This came,
it is true, from the fortune of war; but it was a state
of things that could not last, unless unusual wisdom
were displayed by the English governor of his foreign
people. Beside this, either by accident or design, an
important formality in the ratification of the treaty
never took place.

It was agreed, and confirmed by the Black Prince,
that the *renunciations and cessions” should be
solemnly made at Bruges on November 30th, 1361;
the King of France promised to perform his part,
provided the King of England performed his. On
November 15th, 1361,! King Edward sent commis-
sioners to receive King John’s renunciations; but it
is very doubtful, whether any ever appeared on John’s
part, and certain, that the renunciations were never
made. When war broke out again between the two
countries, the then King of France, Charles the Fifth,

alleged that the treaty of Bretigni was consequently

null and void.

! Rymer, vol. iii. p. 629.
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AD.1sso.  Then, again, there were difficulties attending the
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surrender of the towns, castles and provinces, which
were to be given up by each king. Notwithstanding
the want of confidence felt by the French nation in
either the king or his son, still, as Hallam says, “ The
French were already knit together as one people, and
even those whose feudal duties sometimes led them
into the field against their sovereign, could not
endure the feeling of dismemberment from the mon-
archy.”! The inhabitants of Rochelle, who had con-
stantly fitted out privateers against the English, and
consequently feared their vengeance, were, with reason,
especially averse to being placed under their domi-
nion. They prayed the King of France “for God's
sake not to release them from their fealty to him ;”
and they said, they would pay half their means in
taxes every year, rather than fall into the hands of
the English. But the King told them they must yield
to the conqueror, as the peace would otherwise be
broken, and that this would be a great evil to
France. Rochelle, therefore, was given up on De-
cember 6th, 1360 ;* but the Rochellois submitted with
gloomy sorrow, saying, “ We will obey the English
with our lips, but our hearts shall never be moved
towards them.” The nobles of the south, too, re-
monstrated against their being dismembered from the
monarchy ; they declared that the King had no right
to transfer their homage to another; and that in
| Gascony they had charters given them by Charle-
magne, which showed that this was beyond his

i legitimate power.

I Atlast,however, all the provinces were surrendered ;

! Middle Ages, vol. i. p. 58.
* Buchon’s Froissart, vol. i. p. 452 (note).
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and on January 20th, 1361, King Edward appointed
his old friend and companion, the gallant John of
Chandos, his lieutenant in France.

There were equal difficulties in compelling the
mercenaries, who held the French towns for the Eng-
lish, to restore them to their former masters. Most
of those that were garrisoned by the English them-
selves, were given up without difficulty. But there
were some, even of the English, who refused to do so,
saying falsely that they fought under the banner of
the King of Navarre. This excuse, even if true, would,
however, have been of no avail, as that King was in-
cluded in the treaty between England and France.
Such of the garrisons as were composed of Germans,
Brabanters, Flemings, and even of Bretons, Gascons,
and “bad Frenchmen,” most of them probably the
very men who had formed themselves into *com-
panies ”’ after the battle of Poitiers, also refused. They
again gathered themselves together into different
“companies,” and under various leaders, one of whom
called himself “The Friend of God and Enemy of all
the World.”

Bands of Bretons and Gascons ravaged the country
between Paris and Orleans. A “cloud ” of Lorrainers,
Brabanters, and Germans spread themselves over
Champagne and the countries of the Upper Meuse,
and these called themselves the ¢ Tard venus,” or
late comers, ‘ because they had not as yet much
pillaged the kingdom of France,” and they were
determined to make up for lost time. Other bands
wasted other parts; but the most formidable, called,
par excellence, * The Great Company,” and number-
ing about 16,000 men, devastated Burgundy. They

! Rymer, vol. iii. p. 555.
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spread themselves over the country, committing such
atrocities that prayers were added to the usual divine
service, beseeching God * to turn away that scourge,”
just as had been done in the time of the plague.
The King of France forbade his subjects to attack
them, lest he should thereby give the English an ex-
cuse for renewing the war ; he preferred to beg the
King of England to put them down. Accordingly
on November 18th, 1361, Edward wrote to his lieu-
tenants in France ordering them to punish all those
who should continue their depredations;! and, on
the 18th of the following January, he was obliged
to write to John of Chandos, to say, that the King of
France had informed him that James de Pipe, Hugh
Calverley and other English continued to ravage
France, and to order him to put a stop to their
outrages.?

At last, however, the King of France felt it neces-
sary to put them down with his own hand; and he
determined to begin with the “Great Company,”
whose plan was to march through the rich country
round Lyons towards Avignon, and rob the Pope and
the Cardinals. His cousin, James of Bourbon, was
then at Montpellier, whither he had gone to deliver
up the castles of Guienne to John of Chandos. He
therefore ordered him to gather together an army and
attack them, and James consequently gssembled all

" the nobles and knights of the country and marched

towards Lyons to meet the ¢ Great Company.” The
leaders, hearing that the French were preparing to
attack them, held counsel together, and settled to wait
for them at Brignais near Lyons, among some preci-
pitous hills where they could keep the greater part of

I Rymer, vol. iii. p. 630. 3 Tbid. p. 685.
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their army hidden from their enemies. James sent A.D.1360.
scouts to find out their number, and on their return, g.is ge-
deceived by the cunning tactics of their foes, they geivedss
told him that there were only 5,000 or 6,000 of them, number,
that they were badly armed and quite in his power.
James then turned to Arnaud de Cervolles, “ The
Archpriest,” who was now on the side of the King
of France, saying, ‘ Archpriest! you told me they
were more than 15,000 fighting men, and you hear
quite the contrary.” ¢Sire!” answered the Arch-
priest, “still I do not believe they are less; if
they are not there it is God's doing; it is for us;
consider what you will do.” “By God!” answered and pre-
James of Bourbon, ¢ we will go and fight them in Atack
the name of God and St. George,” and made ready ™™
for battle ; the Archpriest led the van. The “Great
Company” could see all the arrangements of the
Royalists, but the Royalists could not see them.
They were provided, according to Froissart,! with
above 1,000 carts filled with rocks and stones, and,
as the first “battle” of the Royalists approached,
cast the stones down on them, killing and wounding
numbers, and throwing them into such confusion that
they never recovered themselves. Then James of
Bourbon and his son and nephew came on with their
banners flying, and a great host of men *who were
all marching to their deaths.” As they neared the misarmy
hill, down. came the stones on them as they had on i ey
their comrades, and when they were thereby thrown
into utter confusion the robbers came out from their
hiding-places, * thick and serried like brushwood,”
their lances, for eusy handling, cut down to six feet
in length, and shouting * St. George ! strike at these
! Vol. i. p. 456, Buchon’s ed.
VOL. IL ¥
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Frenchmen.” ¢ Why should I make a long story ?”
says Froissart, the Frenchmen were beaten; James
of Bourbon and his son were badly wounded, and
were carried with difficulty into Lyons, where the
father died on the third day after the battle and his
son was soon afterwards carried to the same grave.
The battle took place on April 6th, 1362.1

After this signal triumph the robbers marched

- a8 they pleased through the country. Their success

drew to their ranks numbers of vagabond English,
Gascons, and Germans; and they now resolved to
go to Avignon, and attack the Pope. In order to

' raise an army for his defence, the Pope proclalmed a

crusade against them, offering pardon of sins to all
who joined his ranks. Some, who were probably
the greatest rascals of the number, accepted the offer ;

* but most, finding they were only to get pardon and no

The Pope
buys them
off,

pay, and having consciences as light as their pockets,
rejected it. Many even joined the ¢ Companies,”
where there was plenty of plunder but no chance of
pardon, and the “ Companies” thus became stronger
than ever. The Pope was now in despair, when it
occurred to him that he might buy off his assailants
by getting them employed as regular troops. So he
sent for the Marquis of Montferrat, who was then
making war on the Lords of Milan, and agreed to
give him 60,000 florins to take them into his pay.
The Pope thus got rid of 6,000 of his foes.

These incidents, having only an indirect bearing
on the History of England, are related in order to
furnish some idea of the horrible state of France after
the return of King John, and of the difficulty of ful-
filling the conditions of the treaty of Bretigni. It

! See note in Buchon’s ed. vol. i. p. 457,
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would be easy to add further details, demonstrating
the mutual jealousies of nobles and people, the de-
vastated condition of the country, the enormous rate
of interest required for money, and the utterly dis-
organised condition of the kingdom ; and to show how
all these miseries produced, and were aggravated by,
the reappearance of the Plague ; but enough has been
told to exhibit the state of France in its relation
to England, and it is unnecessary here to pursue
the subject further.

A.D. 1361,

—

England, on the King’s return, was relieved of On the

the vast cost of carrying on the war, and he, be-
lieving apparently that a permanent peace was now
established, restored to the ¢ Priors Aliens” their
houses, lands, and tenements which he had con-
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fiscated to his own use. In the interval, from the -

- commencement of the war with France, twenty-three
years before, he had let them out to be farmed.

A few months after the war was ended, the Plague
again broke out in England, as it had also done in
France. The Courts of Law were consequently ad-
journed on the 10th of May till the 24th of June;
on the 23rd of that month the King again wrote
to the judges, commanding them to adjourn their
courts till the 6th of October.! The mortality,
however, was not so great as on the former occasion,
but among its victims was the brave and celebrated
Henry of Lancaster, who died at the end of March,
1361. His daughter, as already stated, had married
the King’s son, John of Gaunt, and was the mother
of our Henry 1V. '

Another event of importance to England happened
during this year, namely, the marriage of the Black
! Rymer, vol. iii. pp. 616, 621.
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AD.1361. Prince to Joan, commonly called the Fair Maid of
Marrisge Kent. She was the grand-daughter of Edward I, ;©
sf e her father being Edmund of Woodstock Earl of Kent,
tl;l;m‘ge e to the sixth and youngest son of Edward I. On the
Maidof death of her brother, John, Earl of Kent, without
Kent. issue, she became Countess of Kent. The Black
Prince was this beautiful lady’s third husband; her
first was Sir Thomas Holland, Steward of the House-
bold to William Montague, Earl of Salisbury; her
second, from whom she was divorced, was Salisbury
himself. The Prince and Joan being cousins, a special
dispensation to allow of their marriage was obtained
from the Pope.
AD.1362.  Soon after the marriage of his son, King Edward
Dukeof created him Duke of Aquitaine. It was evident that
Aquitaine. the large dominions in the south of France of which
King Edward wds now absolute sovereign, could not
be governed by a mere deputy, however wise and per-
sonally loved he might be. The English rule was far
from popular in France, and nothing but the fact of
a king or a king’s son dwelling among them was
likely to make that rule acceptable. It was for these
reasons that King Edward created his son Duke of
Aquitaine, and made him ruler over that part of his
dominions. But yet, and wisely too, he did not make
him absolute sovereign over the country. Such a
course would have deprived the King of England of
all power over his newly-recovered dominions, and of
creating one of his younger sons Duke of Aquitaine
at his own death; and would have ended either in
the establishment of a line of English Kings of Aqui-
taine independent of England, or, possibly, of making
the King of England subordinate to the King of
Aquitaine. The Black Prince would, at his father’s

L
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death, have become King of Aquitaine and England. A.p.1362.
It was the object of Edward’s policy to prevent such g5 not
a combination, for the English nation would not have made sb-

submitted to such degradation, and there would pro- Sovereign
bably have risen up a competitor for the English ecountry.
crown. This must have ended, eventually, in the
severance of the two kingdoms.! King Edward,
therefore, imposed on his son the annual payment of

an ounce of gold at the palace of Westminster, “as

an open indication and clear demonstration that our

son holds the aforesaid things under us and our
Majesty and by Liege Homage.”? As remarked by

Mr. Hallam,® “so high were the notions of this great
monarch, in an age when the privilege of creating

new kingdoms was deemed to belong to the Pope

and the Emperor,” that he added, that he expressly
reserved to himself the right to make Aquitaine into

a kingdom.* This was on July 19th, 1362, but it

was not until the following February that the Prince
embarked for his new dominions.

1 See Sismondi, vol. ii. p. 95. 2 Rymer, vol. iii. p. 669.
3 Middle Ages, vol. i. p. 57,note. 4 Ibid. p. 667.
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CHAPTER V.

DOMESTIC LEGISLATION.

THE importance and interest of the relations between

Important England and France at this juncture can hardly be

Statutes.
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overrated, but yet there is a more permanent value
in the glimpses from time to time obtained of the
internal progress of the English nation in civilisa-
tion. It was at this moment that various legislative
measures were enacted, the effect and interest of
which remain at the present day as fresh and im-
portant as they were at the time of their enactment,
though five centuries have since passed by. The most
memorable of these, was that establishing the use of
the English language. England had hitherto been
almost as much French as English, and, had Edward
succeeded in placing himself on the throne of France,
would, in all probability, have been merged in France,
until, scorning such a position, she again made her-
self an independent kingdom. But this was not to
be. England remained England, and the English
language was now to become the language of the
nation.

At a Parliament which met on October 13th, 1362,
it was ordered that the English instead of the French
language should thenceforth be used in pleadings in
the Courts of Law. The reason given in the Statute
(86 Ed. III. stat. 1. c. 15) for this change, is that
“the French tongue is much unknown” in England,
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£¢g0 that the people which do implead, or be impleaded, a.p. D. 1362,
in the King’s Court, and in the Courts of other, have
no knowledge nor understanding of that which is said
for them or against them by their Serjeants and other
Pleaders.”!

It is clear from this, that the English language had
already made way, but it is remarkable that this Law
itself was written in French. Indeed, although the
English language had made so great progress among
the nation in general, that the poems of Chaucer,
the first and one of the greatest of English poets
and the very founder of English literature, may be
read with tolerable ease at the present day, yet a
bastard kind of French was still the spoken and
written language of the upper classes. In the early French
part of this century, French was the language which t:u‘:;?;f
the children of gentlemen were taught to speak the upper
from their cradle, and it was the only language
allowed to be used by boys at school. About
a quarter of a century after the passing of this
Statute, such was no longer the case. Trevisa, the
translator of Higden’s Chronicle from Latin into
English, says: “This manner was myche yused tofore
the first moreyn and is sith the som dele ychaun-
gide—in alle the gramer scoles of England children
leveth Frensche and lerneth an Englisch.”?  This
change was probably greatly brought about by the

U Statutes of the Realm, folio, vol. i. p. 395, and see also Rot.
Parl. vol. ii. p. 273.

2 Craik’s Hist. Eng. Lit. vol. i. p. 160, and see the same work
P- 98, quoting the original passage from Ralph Higden, “Also
gentil mennes children beth ytaught for to speke Frensche from
the time that thei both rokked in her cradel, and cunneth speke
and playe with a childes brooche; and uplondish men wol likne
hem self to gentilmen,” &ec. &e.
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A.D.1363. Statute under consideration. King Edward the

Third was hardly able even to speak English,! always
wrote his despatches in French, and his proclama-
tions were often made in that language; but it was
a wretched travestie of it, so much so indeed, that
Chaucer writing a few years later, says: “of whyche
speche the Frenche men have as good a fantasye as
we have in hearing of French mennes Englyshe,” 2
and he expresses the same fact in the well known
lines :—
¢ After the scole of Stratford atte Bowe.
For Frenche of Paris was to her unknowe.”

But, although the English language was ordered to
be used in pleadings in open court, in order that all
men might understand what was going on, the pleas
and all the proceedings in a cause were ordered to be
enrolled in a Latin Record, and “the reports of what

! « We have no satisfactory proof that any one of the first three
Edwards spoke English, and it would appear that Edward III. on
some public occasion found it difficult to put together three con-
secutive words in the national tongue.”—Pauli’s Pictures of Old
England, page 208.

3 Specimen of King Edward’s French, taken from a letter to
his son. Avesbury, p. 98. “Tresch. .. & tresame filtz nous
sauoms bien je vous desviez mult de sauoir bones nouelx de nous
& de nre estat vous faceoms assauoir je au partier du cestes
nous esteioms heites de corps dieux ensoit loie.”

Another, of the language used in proclamations, from Rymer,
vol. iii. p. 469 ; “ Come en nostre parlement, pur refriendre la
malice des servantz qi furent percionses nient voillantz servire
apres la pestilence, saunz trope outrageouses lowers prendre.”

Another, of Parliamentary language, from Parliamentary Rolls.
“Soit ordeine covenable Remedie, & coment la Ples purra meltz
estre gardez & le People de son Roialme vivre en ese . . . &
quiete.”—Rot. Parl. vol. ii. p. 268.

“Jtem, que lui plese or deiner plente d’or & d’argent.”—Ibid.
p. 271.
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passed in court were still taken and published in
French, and so continued for hundreds of years after.”!

It is impossible to quit this account of the first
legal recognition and command of the use of the Eng-
lish language without taking some further, though
but slight, notice of the ¢ Father of English Poetry.”
Chaucer was born in 1328, and is believed to have
died in 1400. His great poem, “The Canterbury
Tales,” was not, it is true, written until the middle of
the reign of Richard II., and it is to his reign there-
fore that Chaucer properly belongs. But Chaucer was
writing his immortal verse in the English tongue at
the time when the Statute commanding its use was
enacted. A passing tribute therefore, even if some-
what anticipating time, is due to him, who, in conjunc-
tion with his contemporaries Longland, the author
of “the Vision of Piers Ploughman,” and John
Gower, the author of the ¢ Confessio Amantis,” was
building up the English language; and who is the
earliest English poet whose writings can still. be read
with pleasure, and understood without trouble. He
is justly called ‘ The Homer of his country.”?

Other important laws and regulations relating to
trade, and to the manners and customs of the people
were made about this time, of which it is desirable
to give some account before resuming the narrative of
the more public history of the reign; for although
many of them were repealed in the following year,
they strikingly illustrate the times.

The first of these has reference to that constant
interference with trade, either, by protections or
restrictions in favour of one or other traffic or ma-

! Reeves English Law, vol. ii. p. 450.
2 Craik’s Eng. Lit. vol. i, p. 271.
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nufacture, at the proportionate cost of some other;
or, for regulating modes of dealing; or with a view
to raising larger revenues for the King personally
or for the State, which was so characteristic of this
reign. The true principle of trade, viz.: to allow
any man to buy and sell as he pleases so long as he
does so honestly, was not then understood ; but the
constant enactments for the regulation of commerce,
bear testimony to its growing importance, and to the
care with which it was attempted to be fostered, al-
though the foster child ran an imminent risk of being
smothered in the process.

One of the first matters taken into consideration
by the Parliament, which met on October 13th,
1362, was the low price of wool, for which a
remedy was sought by removing the staple from
London to Calais. It is not easy to understand how
this could have the desired effect, and it is singular
that after the valid reasons given only nine years
before (27 Edward III. stat. 2) for the establishment
of staples within the kingdom, it should now have
been decided that it was better to have them out of
it. The effect indeed which staples had on com-
merce was evidently not clear to the legislators them-
selves. At the beginning of the reign, however, either
sounder views were entertained relative to them, or it
had not then become necessary to sacrifice commerce
to revenue. They were then said to be contrary to
the principles of Magna Charta, and were abolished in
order * that all merchants strangers and privy may go
and come with their merchandises into England, after
the tenor of the Great Charter.”* The merchants pre-
sented a petition to the King, stating that whereas

!-Stat. 2 Ed. I1I. c. 9.
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“the wools of the kingdom are put at little value, as
much because they are taken out of the kingdom into
another Seignory or Power where our Lord the King
has no jurisdiction, as for exchange of money and its
debasement, it would be good to remedy it, and that
the city of Calais, which belongs to the King, would be
a good place for the wools and for the abode of the Mer-
chants to avoid the aforesaid mischiefs and damages,
and by which the price of wools will be amended
and enhanced.” In answer to this petition, the King
promised ‘““to show these things more openly to the
Great Men and the Commons and take their advice
thereon,”! and the staple was consequently removed
to Calais on the 1st of March following; but before
three years had elapsed this policy was reversed.?

In this Parliament, notwithstanding that on the
27th of September the export of wools and woolfells
had been absolutely forbidden,? leave was given “ that
the merchants denizens may pass with their wools as
well as the Foreigners without being restrained.” The
object of this alteration was palpable ; for the reason
given for it was, that the King had “regard to the
great subsidy which the Commons have granted, now
in this Parliament, of wools, leather, and woolfells, to
be taken for three years.”* The duty to be levied was
20s. for each sack of wool, 20s. for each 300 woolfells,
and 40s. for each last of leather exported ; in addition
to the ancient duty of a half mark from Denizens and
10s. from Aliens, for each sack of wool, and for each
300 woolfells, and of one mark for each last of leather
from Denizens, and 20s. from -Aliens.® The export

1 Rot. Parl. vol. ii. p. 268.
2 See Preamble of Stat. 43 Ed. III. 3 Rymer, vol.iii. p. 677.
- 4 Stat. 36 Ed. IIL c. 11, % Rot. Parl. vol. ii. p. 273.
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of manufactured wool was, however, soon afterwards

but that of forbidden ; on the 26th of November, among a most
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miscellaneouslist of articles suchas corn, lead, sea-coal,
cheese, and butter, the export of which was forbidden,
“the cloths “called worsteds” are included.! The
forbidding of the export of wool may have had some
show of reason, as the object was probably to en-
courage the home manufacture; but cheese, butter,
and the other articles thus prohibited can have been
included only in order to keep down their price, to the
detriment and discouragement of the producers.
This was the frequent object of such legislation, as
evidenced by the fact, that the dearness of corn was
commonly alleged as the reason for forbidding its
export, though, as often, such legislation had for its
object, the enhancement of the price.?

The minute way in which all details of trade, com-
merce, and even amusements, were regulated, might
be illustrated in various ways. Among these it is
interesting to notice, as characteristic of the times,
that the price of hawks was fixed,® that stealing them
subjected a man to the same punishment as stealing
a horse,* and that their export was constantly for-
bidden.?

Among other singular instances of the minute
way in which the Government, through the exercise
of royal prerogative, interfered during this era with
the daily concerns of domestic life, it may be worth
recording that, in 1340, the King endeavoured, by

! Rymer, vol. iii. p. 683. 2 Ibid. pp. 553 and 603.

3 Ibid. pp. 709 and 776. The prices of hawks were fixed as
follows: A gentle falcon, 20s.; a gentle tercel, 10s.; a lestor,
13s. 4d. ; a tercel estor, half a mark; a lanner, half a mark.

4 Stat. 37 Ed. IIL ¢c.19. 8 Rymer, vol. iii. pp. 613, 694, 724.
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proclamation, to put down a curious, and, one would
think, most unpromising piece of knavery practised
by the London butchers. He forbade them to sew
the fat of good beef on joints of lean.!

The export of horses, and probably of cows also,
at any rate without paying duty, was forbidden by
the King; but on June 7th, 1363, leave was given to
Andrew Destrer of Bruges, the Queen’s guitar-player,
to take over twenty-five oxen or cows without paying
any duty.” A few years later, in 1367, one Henry of
Halle, a German merchant, obtained leave to import
into England from Flanders ¢ eight great horses ;” and
if he could not sell them in England permission was
granted him to take them anywhere else, except to
Scotland, whither it was absolutely forbidden to send
horses.> They were described as of *divers colours,
viz.: one black destrere, two red coursers, one black
courser with his nostrils cut, one smaller courser of
a grey colour, one red courser with his nostrils cut,
one bay and another black courser.”*

Special privileges were granted to Calais, whither
the staple was now removed. A corporation of twenty-
six English merchants, two of whom were to be
mayors, and twenty-four aldermen, was created by an

1 « Ex parte communitatis civitatis nostre London’, per peti-
tionem suam coram nobis et concilio nostro exhibitam, nobis est
ostensum, quod carnifices qui carnes in Civitate predictd vendunt,
pinguedinem boum crassorum super carnes boum macelentorum,
per fila et spinas de ligno factas, suunt et affigunt, nos igitur,
vobis precipimus, &c. &c.”—Rymer, vol. ii. p. 1120. Until the reign
of James the First, legislation by proclamations was frequently
resorted to, more particularly in matters of trade, and especially
foreign trade, which were considered within the powers of the
royal prerogative.

2 Rymer, vol. iii. p. 704. 3 Ibid. p. 823. 4 Ibid. p. 829,
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ordinance on March 1st, 1363. This body, * with the
consent of the Prelates, Lords, and others of the Coun-
cil,” was allowed to import all sorts of food and pro-
vender for the provisioning of Calais, without paying
any duty, from England, Wales, Berwick, and Ireland ;
provided they were not sold out of the seignory. It
was also ordained that nowools, skins, worsteds, cheese,
butter, tin, lead, coal, grindstones, and various other
English products, should be exported from England,
whether by denizens or foreigners, except to Calais.
There were some slight exceptions with regard to
certain goods which might be sent to Gascony; but,
otherwise, the whole export trade of England was
compelled to pass through Calais.! It is difficult to
conceive why the Parliament, which then had and
often exercised considerable power, refrained from
interfering with regulations so subversive of the com-
mercial intercsts of England, which were evidently
made, by the King in Council, without their consent.
It may be however, as indeed is rendered probable
by the subsequent agreement of Parliament that such
matters should be settled by Ordinance and not by
Statute, that they considered the former method less
binding and permanent.

It was not easy to enforce these regulations. It
became necessary, two months afterwards, to make
the collectors of customs, at the various ports of
England, answerable that foreign merchants buying
wool and other goods in England for export to Flan-
ders or elsewhere should stow them away among
the goods of native merchants, and send them

I Rymer vol. iii. p. 690. * Sachez que nous, par assent des
Prelats, Seignurs, et autres de notre conseil, avons ordeigne,”
&e. &e.
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to Calais, instead of shipping them in vessels from
foreign ports, as was their custom, and sending them
direct to their destination. A singular proviso was
added to this ordinance, stating that it was *always
provided that no wines, corn, beer, animals whether
flesh or fowl, horses, clergy, foreigners or others, ex-
cept our merchants,” should be allowed to pass out of
the kingdom without special leave.! The passage of
persons out of or into England was carefully watched,
and not allowed without express permission; a.nd
even Scotchmen coming to England for trading pur-
poses required a safe conduct to enable them to do
so? Frequent and numerous parties of rich mer-
chants, with caravans laden with their goods, and
attended by companies of horsemen and squires for
the purposes of defence and security, travelled from
all parts of Scotland into England and the Continent.
They travelled in bodies of fifty or sixty at a time.
On one memorable occasion, a party of sixty-five
merchants obtained safe conducts to travel through
England for the purposes of trade, and their warlike
suite amounted to no less than two hundred and
thirty horsemen.?

There was an extraordmary fear of the conse-
quences of taking money out of the country, and it
required a special permission to enable a foreigner
selling goods in England to receive money for them.
Thus, on September 30th, 1364, it was proclaimed by
the King that, although he had *lately ordered it to
be proclaimed throughout the kingdom that no one
should be allowed to take gold or silver, in money, or
in any other way out of the kingdom,” yet he gave

1 Rymer, vol. iii. p. 698. 2 Ibid. pp. 646, 647.
3 Rot. Scot. p. 876 (as quoted by Tytler, vol. ii. p. 53), &c.
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leave, to the Flemish and other fishermen, to take
their herrings to the fair at Yarmouth, and sell them
for money. Similar permission was given to fisher-
men taking eels and other fish to London, and to
others taking herrings and other fish to Sandwich.?
About the same time, a merchant of Bayonne, who
had sold fifty hogsheads of Gascony wine in London,
was licensed to export 100 quarters of corn, which
he had bought with the money he received for it.2
That the constant object was to keep money in the
kingdom is further confirmed by the statement, in
the King's ordinance of July 8th, 1364, that the
object of allowing the Gascons to buy herrings in
England, with the¢ money they received for their
wine, was ‘““in order to retain the money within the
kingdom.” 1In a like manner, when William Pernell
of Harwich wanted to go in his ship ¢ The Edmund,”
to La Baye in Brittany to buy salt, it was necessary
for him to obtain leave to take money with him to
pay for it.4

But, it was not merely the foreign trade, that was
thus subjected to minute regulations and restrictions
of all kinds. The home trade of the country was
equally interfered with, the great idea of the period
being to keep down prices and prevent the producer
from obtaining the natural value of his goods; in
short, to protect the buyer against the seller. One
motive for this may have been that the King himself,
through the * hateful Purveyors,” was himself a great
buyer. In July 1366, corn was forbidden to be ex-
ported because it was dear.” In the Parliament held

! Rymer, vol. iii. p. 748. 2 Ibid. p. 752.
3 Ibid. p. 741. 4 Ibid. p. 739. 5 Ibid. p. 797. -
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in the autumn of 1363, the King ordained ‘“at the A.D.1se2.

request of the Commons and by the assent of the
Prelates, Dukes, Earls, Barons, and other Great Men,”
“for the great mischiefs which have happened, as Every
well to the King, as to the Great Men and Commons, merchant
of that that the Merchants, called Grocers, do ingross °uekind
all manner of Merchandise vendible, and suddenly chandiso
do inhance the price of such Merchandise within the ***°
realm, putting to sale by coin  and ordinance made
betwixt them, called the Fraternity and Gild of
Merchants, the Merchandises which be most dear,
and keep in store the other, till the time that dearth
or scarcity be of the same,” that merchants should
deal in one sort of merchandise only, and that each
should choose between then and Candlemas what it
should be, It was also ordained that * Artificers,
Handicraft People, hold them every one to one Mys-
tery, which he will choose between this and the said
feast of Candlemas;” but an exception was made in Excep-
respect of certain workwomen, it being added that o 10
“the intent of the King and of his Council is, that
Women, that is to say Brewers, Bakers, Carders and
Spinners, and Workers as well of Wool as of Linen
Cloth and of Silk, Brawdesters, and Breakers of
‘Wool, and all others that do use and work all Handy
‘Works, may freely use and work as they have done
before this time.” The Goldsmiths, too, were put Restric-
under great restrictions, it being ordained that ‘“no ;';’1‘,'1'_“
Goldsmith making White Vessel shall meddle with smiths-
Gilding, nor they that do gild shall meddle to make
white vessel.” !
In accordance with this statute, in July of the Tradein
. . . h inter-
following year, in order to “make the price more fered with
! Stat. 37 Ed. IIL c. 5, 6, and 7. in like
VOL. 1L G
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AD.136s. reasonable,” the King made the following regulations

Drapers,

about the sale of fish, viz. : that “ no one shall meddle
with the mystery of fishmongers except those that
belong to it;” and that “the fish shall be sold only
in three places, that is Bridge Street, Old Fish Street,
and the place called Lestokkes (i.e. ‘The Stocks
market,” which was held where the Mansion House
now stands), except stock-fish which belongs to
the mystery of stock-fishmongers.” It was also
ordered that it should be landed during daylight,
and only in particular places, in order that its
quantity might be certified, “so that people may
know how much fish there is,” that it was not to be
sold to sell again, excepting in gross, and so forth.
An ordinance for a similar purpose was also made
relative to drapers, ordering that * no one shall use
this mystery, unless he has been apprenticed to it,”
and that “ those who have drapery to sell shall sell it
to no one except to the drapers enfranchised in the
mystery, except in gross to the Lords and others
who wish to buy them for their own use, and never
by retail.” The Vintners were subjected to like re-
gulations,! and the price of poultry was also regulated
by the same ordinance.

It is worthy of notice that in this Parhament the
King asked whether *they would have the things
agreed to, put by way of ordinance or of statute, and
they answered that it was better by ordinance and not
by statute, so that if there were anything to amend,
it might be amended in the next Parliament.”? The
wisdom of this answer was soon made apparent.

Another matter, taken in hand by this Parliament,

1 Rymer, vol. iii. pp. 741, 742.
2 Rot. Parl. vol. ii. p. 280,
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is one which appears even less suited to regulation
by law. It was the dress of the people, and the
reason given was, ‘‘the outrageous and excessive ap-
parel of divers people against their estate and degree
to the great destruction and impoverishment of all
the land.” A few of the details, selected from the
long and minute regulations embodied in this statute,
are as follows :—All servants were forbidden to wear
cloth of a greater value than two marks for the en-
tire dress, or to wear embroidered gold or silver or
gilk, and their wives and daughters were not to
wedr veils of above 12d. value. Esquires of a cer-
tain income were forbidden to wear furs; but the
wives of those of a higher income might wear fur
turned up with miniver; ¢ carters, ploughmen, ox-
herds, shepherds and all other keepers of beasts,
threshers of corn, and all manner of people attend-
- ing to husbandry,” not having 40s. worth of goods
or chattels, were not to wear any manner of cloth,
except blanket and russet wool of 12d. a yard, and
girdles of linen according to their estate; and it
was added, ¢ that they come to eat and drink in the
manner as pertaineth to them and not excessively.”?!

Many parts of this statute were repealed in the
following year. The Commons presented petitions
stating that they were “hardly grieved”? by the
ordinance of the last Parliament, and prayed that
it might be repealed.® Accordingly, after confirming
the “Great Charter and the Charter of the Forest”
for the twelfth time during his reign, the King
ordained “that all People shall be as free as they
were before the said Ordinance, and that all Mer-

U Stat. 37 Ed. IIL c. 8, 14.
2 « Durement grevez.” 3 Rot. Parl. vol. ii. p. 286.
G 2
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chants, as well Aliens as Denizens, may sell and buy
all manner of Merchandises, and freely carry them
out of the realm, paying the customs and subsidies
thereof due; except that the English Merchants shall
not pass out of the Realm with Wools or Wool-
fells, and that none carry out of the Realm Gold nor
Silver, in Plate nor in Money, saving the Victuallers
of fish that fish for herring and other fish, and they
that bring fish within the Realm in small vessels,
which meddle not with other Merchandises.” ! By the
same statute, the punishment of death, which (as it
would seem almost impossible to beheve, were not the
fact beyond doubt) had been ordered to be inflicted
on those who passed out of the country with wools,
woolfells and leather without leave,? was repealed ; the
staple was restored to England, and greater freedom
was given to the trade in wines.

This statute of repeal is particularly interesting as
showing the progress of sound ideas on matters of
trade ; the impolicy of making enactments contrary to
those principles ; the power which the Commons had of
making themselves heard; and the prudence of the
King and his advisers in instantly redressing the
grievances against which the Commons presented
their petitions.

There was another Royal ordinance promulgated
at this time relative to greater perseverance in the
use of the bow, which must be here mentioned, as it
gives interesting information as to the sports and
habits of the people, and possibly shows the effect .
of the recent introduction of gunpowder.

! Stat. 38 Ed. IIL. c. 1, 2.

3 « Est accorde, q la forfaiture de vie et de membre soit ouste

de tout en I'estatut de le staple.”—Statutes of the Realm, vol. i.
p. 884.
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On June 1st, 1363, the King, addressed a letter
to the sheriffs, ordering that, “ Whereas before these
times the people of the country, as well noble as
ignoble, commonly exercised themselves in the art
of archery, and thereby did honour and were of use
to the whole kingdom: whereas now, as if entirely
putting aside the said art, the same people take to
the throwing of stones, wood, and iron ; and some to
hand-ball, foot-ball, and stick-play; and to the fighting
of dogs and cocks; and some even indulge themselves
in dishonest and less useful games: it is to be pro-
claimed that every man in the county, of able body,
on feast days, shall use bows and arrows, or cross-
bows and bolts, in his games, and shall learn and
exercise the art of archery, and shall give up these
vain games under pain of imprisonment.”! This
proclamation had, apparently, but little effect, for it
became necessary to repeat it two years afterwards.

It is evident that, owing, perhaps, to some extent
of demoralisation of the people—which is not un-
likely when the habits of the nobles are considered
~—or, more probably, from a diminishing trust in the
value of bows and arrows as weapons of warfare, the
practice of archery had become much neglected.

It is not an inopportune moment here to remark
that at this time, and indeed for centuries after-
wards, the proceedings in Parliament were very dif-
ferent from what they are at present. What is
now called ¢ the Cabinet” did not then exist. The
King’s advisers were what was anciently termed
the King’s Council, which sprang from the Curia
Regis.? They “consisted of the Chancellor, Trea-

! Rymer vol, iii. p. 704 and 770.
2 Madox, Excheguer, vol. i. p. 6,
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A.D.ases. surer, Lord Steward, Lord Admiral, Lord Marshal,
General fhe Keeper of the Privy Seal, the Chamberlain,
remarks Treasurer and Comptroller of the Household, the
Proceed- Chancellor of the Exchequer, and the Master of the
Poia.  Wardrobe; also of the Judges, King’s Sergeant and
ment.  Attorney General, the Master of the Rolls and Jus-
tices in Eyre. When all these were called together
it was a full council, but where the business was of
a more contracted nature those only who were fittest
to advise were summoned.”! There is no evidence
that then, or for a long time afterwards, the King’s
advisers or any member of Parliament brought in
what we now call “a Bill.” The Commons presented
i their Petitions for the redress of grievances; it may
be presumed that some kind of debate then took
place, but there is no trace of this until towards the
end of the reign. If the King, or his advisers, thought
fit to grant the petition, he either answered * Il plest
au Roi” or, as in the present instance, ¢ Sotent st
Jranks come estoient de tout temps auncienement devant
les dites Ordinances, &c. &c. ;? or, according to the
nature of the petition.
Jubilee on  In the autumn of this year a national jubilee was
sion of the held on account of the King having attained his fif-
5;:5;13,e tieth year. There are no records of the way in which

fiftieth it was kept by the nation at large, but the King

year of his .

age. granted a general pardon, released prisoners, and
recalled exiles.® He also, on this occasion, created
his third son Lionel, who was then in Ireland, Duke
of Clarence, which title he took in right of his wife,
who was descended from the Lords of the Honour of

Clare in Suffolk ; his fourth son, John of Gaunt, Duke

! Hallam’s Middle Ages, vol. ii. p. 269.
2 Rot. Parl. vol. ii. p. 286. 3 Walsingham, p. 297.
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of Lancaster, in right of his wife, daughter of the Earl A.p.136s.
of Lancaster; and his fifth son, Edmund, Earl of
Cambridge.! After this, the King went with a great
assembly of the earls and barons of England and all

the French hostages, to hunt in the forests of Rock- Great
ingham, Sherwood, Clun in Shropshire, and various pemiw
other forests, woods, and parks; he spent, sometimes

a hundred pounds, and sometimes a hundred marks

a day in these diversions.? .

The time for the departure of the Prince of Wales The
to the Duchy of Aquitaine was now approaching ; oyl
the King therefore went to visit him at the Castle of| A%
Berkhamsted, before he left England. Little indeed
was it then expected, that he would return in a very !
few years, shattered in health, and not untarnished
in reputation for high chivalrous feeling, or that the
result of his short tenure of the Duchy would be the

loss of everything gained by the victory at Poitiers.

! Rot. Parl. vol. ii. p. 273. 2 Knighton, col. 2627.
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CHAPTER VI

KING JOHN RETURNS TO CAPTIVITY AND DEATH—APPROACHING -
RENEWAL OF WAR WITH FRANCE.

Tre Prince of Wales sailed for Aquitaine in Feb-
ruary 1363. He had not been there three months,
before one of the French hostages was guilty of a
breach of faith, which might easily have put an end
to the peace between England and France. They
had been treated with the greatest kindness; the
utmost practicable freedom had always been granted
to them; the King was glad to have them as his
companions on his hunting parties ; and, in order to
indulge in their various diversions, they were con-
stantly allowed leave of absence from the castles,
which were called their prisons. Thus—to select
two instances, among many, of the liberality with
which they were treated, and of the means they
took to amuse themselves—on February 16th, 1361,
very shortly after their arrival, the King gave the
Duke of Orleans leave to go with his hawks, hounds,
and friends, as often as he pleased, and wherever he
pleased within the kingdom, except in his own pre-
serves ;! to remain away each time for eight days, re-

~ turning at sunset on the eighth day; and when the

King, on December 14th, 1362, gave certain of them
leave to go to Calais, they were permitted to take

1 Hors des lieux fermez.
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“their greyhounds, other dogs, and falcons” with
them.!

But they became weary of their exile, and were
half ruined by the cost of living in a foreign land
while their estates were lying in neglect. It was,
however, only the four ¢ Lords of the Fleurs de
Lys,” as the Dukes of Orleans, Anjou, Berry, and
Bourbon were called, and a few others, whose desire
for freedom was attended to. On November 13th,
1362, these captives entered into a treaty with King
Edward, subject to King John’s approval, by which
leave was granted them to go to Calais, and to travel
three days’ distance from thence on condition of
returning by sunset on the fourth day.? They
also pledged themselves that, as provided by the treaty
of Bretigni, the territory of Belleville with all its
castles and fortresses, and the county of Gaure,
should be given up; and that the agreed sum of
200,000 florins should be paid to Edward by the 1st
of November following. As a.security for the ful-
filment of this pledge, they promised that their own
lands and castles should be delivered to Edward;
and that, if all these conditions of their release were
not fulfilled by the 1st of November of the following
year, they would return as prisoners to England within
one month after that day. Under such circumstances
it was provided, that their lands and castles should
remain the entire property of England. Other ar-
rangements were also made to secure the fulfilment of
all the conditions of the treaty of Bretigni; among
these it was specified that the letters of renunciation,
" which were to have been exchanged at Bruges in the

1 Rymer, vol. iii. pp. 603 and.684.
? Buchon’s Froissart, vol, i. p. 465.
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previous year, should be reciprocally delivered. The
giving up of the lands and castles belonging to the
Princes was a heavy penalty to pay for their freedom;

. for, as Sismondi says,! ‘it put the finishing stroke

The Duke
of Anjou
breaks his
parole, _

to the surrender of France to the English.” Never-
theless, after vainly endeavouring to make some slight
changes in the conditions, John agreed to the treaty
as proposed by his sons. On its solemn confirmation
by the Princes, they were allowed to go to Calais about
the end of May.?

It was not long before one of the Princes violated
the conditions on which he had obtained his liberty.
The French treasury was empty; the ravages of the
Companies, the mortality caused by the pestilence, and
the universal misery, stopped the payment of all taxes;
and, notwithstanding this want of money, King John
was running into further expenditure. He had en-
gaged in a new crusade with the King of Cyprus, who
had in vain visited the King of England with the object
of dragging him also into the scheme; and a war with
the King of Navarre relative to the Duchy of Bur-
gundy was imminent. John, on the death of his step-
son the Duke, had taken possession of the duchy as
the nearest of kin to the late Duke; but the King of
Navarre claimed it on the same grounds, being the
descendant of Duke Robert of Burgundy by his eldest
daughter, while the King of France was descended
from the second.

These circumstances rendered it very improbable,
that the conditions on which the Princes were set free
could be fulfilled. The Duke of Anjou, seeing this,
had no hesitation in treacherously breaking those on

1 Vol. x. p. 604.
? Rymer, vol. iii. pp. 681, 682, 685, 694, 701.
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which he had obtained his release. He availed him-
self of the leave granted him to travel four days
from Calais, and never returned. His father, King

A.D.1363.
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John, was deeply distressed at this disgraceful con-toEngland

duct, and, feeling that his own honour was thereby soncs,

compromised, resolved, notwithstanding the remon-
strances of his nobles, to return to captivity in Eng-
land, saying *he wished to make excuses for his son.”!

On December 10th, 1363, only a few days after
the month of grace had expired, King Edward gave
King John a letter of safe conduct, for himself and
200 knights with their attendants, to come into and go
out of England.? King John returned to England, but
was not able to avail himself of the leave to go back
to France, for he died about three months after his
landing. During his brief sojourn in England he was
most hospitably entertained. He landed at Dover on
Thursday, January 4th, 1364. When King Edward
heard of his arrival, he sent a body of knights, to wel-
come him, and escort him to the palace of Eltham, in
Kent, where Edward was then residing. On Satur-
day morning, the French King and his companions set
out on their journey, and proceeded on that day as
far as Canterbury, where they slept. The next day,
Sunday, they rode on to Eltham, where they arrived
after dinner; “and between that and supper time
there was great dancing and rejoicing, and the young
Lord Ingelram, of Coucy, did his best to dance and
sing well when his turn came; he was gladly seen

a pri-
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by both the French and the English, for it well suited :

him to do all that he did;’2 and indeed he succeeded

1 Buchon’s Froissart, vol. i. p. 468.
2 Rymer, vol. iii. p. 718.
3 Stow’s Survey of London, vol. i. p. 309.
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AD.1364. 80 well, that he married King Edward’s eldest daughter
—  Isabel the next year, and was, afterwards, created
Earl of Bedford.
After remaining for nearly two months at Eltham
Palace, the King and the other hostages were con-
ducted to London, where they were again lodged
Heis &t the Savoy Palace. They were most hospitably
rooivea, Teceived by the Lord Mayor and Aldermen. The for-
mer, Sir Henry Picard, a merchant Vintner of Gascony,
‘entertained them, together with the Kings of England
and Scotland, with great magnificence at his house
in the Vintry near St. Martin’s Church ; after dinner
‘““he kept his hall for all comers that were willing
to play at dice and hazard,”! “his Lady Margaret at
the same time keeping her chamber for the enter-
tainment of the princesses and ladies.” ?
g}: guth, But this pleasant life in England was soon over.
1364. -~ KingJohn died at the Savoy Palace on April 8th, 1364,
and was succeeded by his son Charles the Fifth.
History of  For the next five years, until the renewal of the
resistance war with France, there were but few events of public

to the
Pope's  jmportance in England. A strenuous effort was, how-

tons. ever, at this time made to bring to a definite issue the
| important struggle with the PoPe, which had been
energetically carried on by Edward and his grand-
father, relative to his interference with the English
Church. It was with reference to this that the

* Statute of Provisors ” had been passed in 1352.
Tmsurpatxon complamed of (as to some extent
j already explained) was this, viz. that the Pope claimed
{ the right of appointment to vacant English livings,
and even to livings before they became vacant; that

! Barnes’s Edward I1I. p. 635.
2 Buchon’s Froissart, vol. i. p. 469.
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he confiscated to himself the first year’s income there-
of, and appointed certain persons called “ provisors”
to carry these usurpations into effect. It was also
complained, that when these appointments were dis-
puted, the ¢ provisor ” carried his complaint into the
Papal courts, and those who resisted were therefore
compelled to defend themselves in the Court of Rome.!

At the Parliament which met on January 21st, A.D.
1365, the Bishop of Ely, as Lord Chancellor, opened
the proceedings in the Painted Chamber. ¢ When a
bishop was Lord Chancellor he took a text of Scrip-
ture, which he repeated in Latin, and discoursed upon
the same; but when a lay judge was Lord Chancellor
he took no text, but in manner of an oration showed
summarily the causes of the Parliament.”? In accord-
ance with this practice, the bishop took a text from

1 See Hook’s Lives of the Archbishops aof Canterbury, vol.
iv. pp. 142, 143, 190 and 191; Milman’s Latin Christianity,
vol. viii. p. 154 (note *); and England and France under the
House of Lancaster, note 41 (p. 396). It is stated both by Dean
Milman and by the anonymous author of the latter able book, that
it was the Pope’s interference with the patronage in the hands of
spiritual persons that was complained of, and the latter gives
elaborate reasons for stating that they ¢“had no relation to lay
patronage.” The very plain language of Parliament, “ Et aussi des
Impetrations et Provisions faites en mesme la Court de Rome
des Benefices and Offices d’Eglise, appertenantz a la donation pre-
sentation our disposition fire dit Sighir le Roi et d'autres patrons
lais de son Roiaxlme et des Eglises et autres Benefices apropriez

A.D.1365..

A.D.1365.
Proceed-
ings in
Parlia-
ment.

)

as Eglises Cathedrales” (Rot. Parl. vol. ii. p. 284 g.), seems entirely '
inconsistent with this view. The rights of private lay persons, '
however, were, probably, not much affected by the Papal Pro- :

visions after the great resistance of Sir Robert Thwenge in 1246
(see Lingard), except in such cases of lapse as occurred when a
living was vacated by the promotion of its incumbent to a bishop-
ric, in which case, ordinarily, the crown appointed.

3 Coke, 4 Inst. 8 (quoted in Campbell’s Chancellor:, post 8vo.
vol. i. p. 223, note).

4
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A.D.135. the Psalms, and applying it to the occasion, stated in
T general terms, in the English language, the reasons
why the Parliament was summoned. Then the King,
accompanied by the prelates, dukes, earls and barons,
repaired to the White Chamber (the Commons re-
maining in the Painted Chamber),! and stated that com-
plaints were constantly made by his subjects to the
Pope as to matters which were determinable in the
King’s own courts; that provisions were made by the
court of Rome as to benefices in England belonging
to the King and other lay patrons of his kingdom ;
. and that ¢ the laws, usages, ancient customs, and fran-
chises of his kingdom were thereby much hindered,
the King’s crown degraded, and his person defamed.”
He therefore asked the advice and counsel of the

Lords as to how such things could be prevented.
The Commons were then summoned to the White
Chamber,and the substance of the King’s address to the
Lords was repeated to them.? Strong language against
the Court of Rome was evidently made use of, for the
Act of Parliament (38 Ed. III. stat. 2) founded on
| the debate, omits ¢ biting words—a mystery not to be
known of all men.”® The result was that all former
statutes were confirmed, and the penalties of the
Statate of ¢ Statute of Preemunire,” passed in 1353, were ordered
mmire  [t0 be put in force against provisors and their agents.
confirmed, JA ccording to this statute, offenders after premonition
g:d;:idinw or warning were liable “ to be put out of the King’s
force protection,” or in other words deprived of the protec-

inst R
Trovisors. Ition of the law.

! «Les Comunes des Countees, Citees, et Burghs démorantz
en Pees en la dit chambre de coffiandement le Roi.”—Rot. Parl
vol. ii. p. 283. '

? Rot. Parl. vol. ii. p. 284. 3 Cotton’s Abridgement, p. 100.
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The prelates added to their consent to this statute, A.p.1ses.
that they did not mean to assent to anything which . pope,
might be, or which might turn to the prejudice of ;M
their dignity or estate.! They felt they were taking revives
~ a bold step in thus opposing the Pope. It was & of annusl
declaration of war against him, and so he considered ™*%"
it. He instantly revived the claim- of the annual
payment of 1000 marks, premised by King John on
receiving back from his hands the English crown,
which he had basely surrendered to him. The pay-
ment had not been made for thirty-three years. It
had been refused by Edward I., but was resumed,
and all arrears paid, by his son ; and was again refused
by Edward III.

A struggle, of the utmost importance to the
freedom of England and an evident precursor of
the Reformation, then began between the Pope, A.D-1366.
Urban V., and the King of England. The Pope wrote
to the King to demand payment of the arrears,
and threatened to take proceedings against him
for their recovery; the King called Parliament to- Assembly
gether to consider what should be done. It met at frooe
Westminster on March 30th, 1366 ; the prelates and
great men, as before, in the White Chamber, and the
Commons in the Painted Chamber. The Bishop of
Ely, as Chancellor, then asked the “ prelates, dukes,
earls, and barons” their advice on the matter. The
prelates asked for a day to comsider of it by
themselves ; the next day they, and afterwards “the
other dukes, earls, barons, and great men,” answered
that “ neither King John nor anybody else could put Parlia-
himself, or his kingdom, or his people, under subjec- joots the
tion, without their accord and assent.” The Commons F°P¢*

1 Rot. Parl. vol. ii. p. 285.

t o~
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answered in the same way; an ordinance was made
in accordance with the answer of the two branches of
Parliament; and it was added, “ it appeared by many
evidences, that it (John’s submission) was done with-
out their assent and against the coronation oath.”
The Commons also declared, that, if the Pope at-
tempted to enforce payment, they would resist with
all their power.! It was not the amount that was
galling ; it was the degrading thraldom, to which the
kingdom had been subjected, by the cowardice of
John, for 150 years, that roused the King and the
nation to resistance. This was aggravated by the
suspicion, that the Pope was instigated to make these
demands by the King of France, whose creatures the
popes were so long as they lived at Avignon. This
solemn resolution set the question at rest for ever.
This ccntest is memorable, not only from its own

intrinsic importance, but also on account of its being

the occasion on which John Wnchf the first English

- Reformer, came mti__pubhc notice. Wiclif had taken

His first
appear-
ance as an
opponent
o? the
Pope.

- —

part in a controversy between the universities and
the friars mendicant, which was brought under the
consideration of the Parliament.? In reference to the
question of the payment of tribute to the Pope, he
now came forward, in answer to a challenge from a
monk who had written in defence of the Pope's
supremacy to defend the refusal of Parliament to
submit any longer to its exaction. Wiclif wrote his
answer in the form of a report of the debates in
parliament on the subject; but there ean be no doubt
that this was merely the shape in which he thought
fit to put his own arguments. It will be necessary,

" later in the reign, to enter more into Wiclif’s history ;

! Rot. Parl. vol. ii. p. 290. ? Ibid. p. 290.
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“but the first appearance before the world of so great
a man cannot pass unnoticed.!

The only other domestic events of importance
occurring at this time, were the deaths of Edward
Balliol, once King of Scotland, and of Elizabeth,

A.D.1364.

Death of
Balliol
and of the
Dauchess of
Clarence,

Duchess of Clarence, both of which took place in from

1363.

The House of York, whose members were the legi-
‘timate successors to the throne of England, was de-
scended from this Duchess. Her husband was Lionel,
third son of Edward I1I. His elder brothers, the Black
Prince and William of Hatfield, died during their
father’s lifetime ; the latter without issue. Richard, son
of the Black Prince, also died without issue. Henry
the Fourth was son of Edward’s fourthk son, John of
Gaunt. Philippa, the only child of Lionel and Eliza-
beth, married Edmund Mortimer, Earl of March; his
eldest son Roger was, in 1387, nominated by King
Richard II. as his rightful successor in the kingdom
of England.

By the death of Balliol, David became the undis-

puted King of Scotland. King Edward had never
thus demgnated him, but always wrote of him as
“our prisoner;” and indeed after Balliol's death he
refused him that title, and called him simply “our
brother.”® An attempt was now made by both Edward
and David to bring about a permanent peace between
England and Scotland, and to relieve Scotland from the

} See Lewis’s Life of Wiclif, chap. ii.; Milman’s Latin Chris-
tianity, vol. viii. p. 163, &c.; and Fasciculi Zizanorum, edited by
-the Rev. W. W. Shirley, M.A., Introduction, p. xix.

2 See Sandford’s Genealogwal History, pp. 225 and 226.
“This Earl Roger’s heirs ought to have preceded the House of
Lancaster to the crown.”

3 See Rymer, vol. iii. pp. 698, 7283, 755, &e.

VOL. 1I. H
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A.D-1384. heavy burden of the unpaid ransom, by the amicable

Intrigues
as to
Scotland
conse-
quent on
Balliol’s
death,

The

relations
bhetween
England

union of the two kingdoms. In accordance with this
plan David, in March 1363, proposed to his parliament,
that, in the event of his death, one of Edward’s sons
should be chosen to fill the Scottish throne ; and he
particularly recommended Lionel, Duke of Clarence,
for that purpose. The offer was rejected with scorn ;!
but David did not give up the project, and even went
personally to England to negotiate with Edward for
its renewal. The details of the scheme were secretly
- agreed to between the two kings, and a memorandum
| (in which, for the first time and for an obvious pur-
pose, Edward designated David as king of Scotland)
was drawn up on November 27th, 1363, specifying
minutely the terms agreed to between them.? David
promised to bring the matter under the consideration
of his parliament; but it does not appear that this
was ever done, and the proposal came to nothing.?
These were the only domestic events of importance,
which occurred, between the death of King John of
France and the renewal of the war. During the whole
of that interval, the relations between England and

andFrance France were by no means of a cordial nature. It was

very un-
friendly,

hardly possible they could be so. The existence of a
kingdom within a kingdom, for such was Aquitaine,
must have been most galling to the feelings of every
Frenchman, and especially to the royal family; and
the necessity of making heavy payments, according

1 Tytler, vol. ii. p. 55, ete.

3 Ibid. p. 64; and Burton’s Seotland, vol. iii. p. 89.

3 See Rymer, vol. iii. p. 715. It seems probable that this curious
document, which was entirely unknown to the ancient Scottish
historians, is wrongly dated by a year. If it was drawn up before
the meeting of the Scottish Parliament, in March 1363, all is
quite clear and consistent ; but if afterwards, the whole transaction
becomes obscure and improbable.
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to the treaty of Bretigni, combined with the disor-
ganised state of the kingdom which Edward, how-
ever falsely, was supposed to foment, were causes,
amply sufficient, to account for the absence of any
real cordiality between the two kingdoms.

The jealousy which France, not unnaturally, felt
towards England, and her desire to prevent Edward
from establishing alliances which might be detrimen-
tal to her interests, were shown in the successful efforts
which Charles made to prevent the marriage of Ed-
ward’s fifth son, Edmund Earl of Cambridge (after-
‘wards,in 1385, Duke of York) with Margaret, daughter
of Louis Count of Flanders. This intimate alliance
of the English and the Flemings would have coun-
teracted the long-continued efforts of France to de-
tach them from each other; and the Pope was
_ easily moved to help his lord and master the King of
France, by finding, in the frequently evaded ground
of consanguinity, an excuse to forbid the marriage.

The Dukes of Orleans, Berri, Bourbon, and many
of the hostages, had returned to England with King
John, but the Duke of Anjou and various others
did not do so. Edward therefore wrote to the King
of France on November 20th, 1364, to complain,
and to demand that he should compel them to come
back. On the same day he wrote to the Duke of
Anjou himself, telling him that by his treachery
“he had tarnished the honour of himself and all his
lineage,” and calling on him to return to England
within twenty days. Similar letters were written to
other hostages,! but it does not appear that they
had any effect. 'So completely was King Charles
devoid of those feelings of honour, which had insti-

! Rymer, vol. iii. pp. 755, 756, 757.
R 2
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gated his father to resume his captivity in atonement
for his son’s treachery, that on the 18th of Novem-
ber,! he appointed the Duke of Anjou his lieutenant-
general in Languedoc, thus sanctioning his brother’s
breach of faith, and even shamelessly placing him in
the immediate neighbourhood of Edward’s son, the
Duke of Aquitaine.

While the King of England was thus complain-
ing of Anjou’s dishonourable proceedings, the King
of France was accusing the King of England of
fomenting discord in France; and Edward was ob-
liged to issue orders to his lieutenants to use all their
power to put down the “Companies,” which had never
ceased to ravage France. On November 14th, 1364,
Edward wrote to the Lords of his Seignories in
France, to the Prince of Wales, and to John of
Chandos, Viscount of St. Sauveur, desiring them to do
their utmost to repress them. But these letters had,
seemingly, no effect; again and again he had to re-
peat his orders.’ The “ Companies” were too strong
to be conquered without a regular campaign, and at
last the King of France begged Edward to help himin
attacking them; but, the necessary preparations made
by Edward so alarmed the King of France, that he
entreated him to desist.® It was not long after this
that the King of France availed himself of the com-
plaints against the Prince of Wales of encourag-
ing the ¢ Companies,” to break the treaty of peace,
and war between the two countries again began.
During the interval which elapsed before the actual
renewal of fighting, the whole of France was in a

1 Sismondi, tom. xi. p. 15.
* Rymer, vol. iii. pp. 754, 808, 834 and 835.
3 Walsingham, p. 302.
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constant ferment. No part of it was quiet; and
so intimately were England and France then con-
nected together, that a battle in any part of
France might easily have rekindled the flames of
war. Charles V., not unaptly called “The Wise,”
writhed under the treaty of Bretigni; and his
brother the Duke of Anjou, above all others, hated
the English, having behaved as a traitor to them,
and having been told so by their King. But Charles
was resolved not to precipitate a rupture with Eng-
land ; Normandy and Brittany were as yet by no
means certain to support him, and the “ Companies”
might side with Edward.

When the King of Navarre retired to his own
kingdom, after abandoning his just claim to the
Duchy of Burgundy in 1361, he left those parts of
Normandy which belonged to him under the charge of
his brother Philip. On the death of Philip at Evreux,
on August 29th, 1363, the Duke of Normandy, then
Regent of the kingdom, endeavoured to recover
possession of Normandy. He sent for Bertrand du
Guesclin, whose high military qualities, as already
related, he had discovered at the siege of Melun in
1359. Du Guesclin carried on war after his own
fashion, and disregarded the principles on which it was
then usually conducted. He cared more for victory,
-than for obeying the scrupulous laws of honour
which chivalry dictated to combatants, and may there-
fore be considered, as one of those who materially
contributed to the decline of chivalry, which began
about this time.! Du Guesclin immediately obeyed
the Duke’s summons ; and, in concert with Bouci-

! See Martin, Hist. France, vol. v. pp. 243, 244 ; and Sis-
mondi, ii. p. 17.

A.D.1364.
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cault, Marshal of France, who had just arrived from
England with the news of the death of King John,
obtained possession of Nantes by means of a strata-
gem which might without injustice be designated
as treachery. The fall of Meulan immediately fol-
lowed. The free navigation of the Seine, which was
of such vital importance to the provisioning of Paris,
was thus secured, and Du Guesclin then proceeded to
attempt the recovery of the rest of Normandy.
After the fall of Meulan, Du Guesclin advanced
from Pacy to attack Evreux. The Captal de Buch,
to whom the defence of Normandy had been en-
trusted by the King of Navarre on the death of his
brother Philip, posted himself in an advantageous
position at Cocherel between those towns, and waited
his attack. The forces on each side were about equal;
but the French had suffered from marching under a
hot sun and from hunger, the country being still in
such a devastated state that they had not been able
to obtain sufficient provisions; they were therefore

. anxious that the fight should not be unnecessarily

Battle of
Cocherel
and defeat
of the
Captal.

delayed. But the Captal would not leave his posi-
tion, and Du Guesclin consequently feigned a hurried
rctreat, hoping by this means to induce him to de-
scend into the plain. The Captal was not to be
deceived, but, in spite of his remonstrances, John
Jewel, an English adventurer who had joined the
Captal’s little army, rushed down to attack the
French, crying out “Forward! St. George! let him
that loves me follow me!” The French at once
turned, and attacked him with the war cry of “Qur
Lady! Guesclin!” The Captal, who gallantly took
his part in the battle when he saw that it could not
be avoided, was taken prisoner by a body of thirty
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knights, who were ordered to devote themselves to
this object only. Jewel was killed, as were others
of the Navarrese captains. The soldiers were conse-
quently left wholly without a leader, and a complete
defeat of the Navarrese was the result. This battle
took place on May 16th, 1364.

The news of the victory at Cocherel reached Charles
V. the day before his coronation at Rheims, the pre-
vention of which had been one of the main objects
of the Captal.! On his return to Paris, Charles be-
stowed the earldom of Longueville, the heritage of
Philip of Navarre, on Du Guesclin as a reward for
his victory. Soon after this terrible defeat of the
Navarrese, Louis, younger brother of the King of
Navarre, arrived in France, and with a small army of
English, Gascon, and German adventurers ravaged the
country between the Loire and the Allier.* Charles
therefore placed Du Guesclin, Boucicault and others,
under the orders of his brother the Duke of Burgundy,
and ordered them to attack the Navarrese either on
the borders of the Loire or in Normandy. In the
latter, especially, the French troops had great success,
and treated all the Normans and French who fought
against them with great severity ; but they spared the
adventurers, wishing to enlist them on their side to
fight for Charles of Blois in Brittany.

The treaty of Bretigni had not put an end to the
struggle between the two, competitors for the duchy.
The Kings of England and France had in vain tried
to mediate between them; and Jeanne of Penthiévre,
the wife of Charles of Blois, persuaded her husband
to break a treaty which he had signed on July 12th,
1363, agreeing to the partition of the duchy. War,

! Buchon’s Froissart, vol. i. p. 473, 2 Ibid. p. 485,
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therefore, between the claimants again broke out, and
John of Montfort laid siege to Auray. As before stated,
it had been arranged in the treaty of Bretigni, that the
Kings of England and France, might each take part
in the war in Brittany, without involving their own
kingdoms in the strife. Charles of Blois therefore
at once appealed to the King of France, who sent Du
Guesclin to his aid ; and John of Montfort applied in
like manner to the Prince of Wales, who was then, as
Duke of Aquitaine, holding his court at Bordeaux.!
The Prince sent the gallant old John of Chandos to
help him, and numbers of English, under Sir Robert
Knolles and Sir Hugh de Calverley, also flocked to
his standard.

So soon' as Du Guesclin had united his troops with
those of Blois at Nantes, he advanced to the relief
of Auray, and at the end of September, about four
months after the battle of Cocherel, was face to
face with the army of Bretons and English under
John of Montfort. Montfort’s forces were inferior
in numbers to those of Blois, and he therefore
posted them on a hill behind Auray, where he resolved
to wait for the enemy. .

Day after day vain efforts were made by the Lord
of Beaumanoir, on the part of Charles of Blois, to re- .
new negotiations between the two parties, till at last
John of Chandos told him it was quite useless to
persevere in his attempt; that his people were re-
solved to lose all, or gain all by a battle; .and that if
Beaumanoir did not take care, they would certainly
kill him. On the 29th of September the battle took
place, and on this occasion fortune turned against
Du Guesclin. The French were routed; Charles of

1 Buchon’s Froissart, vol."i. p. 489.
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Blois was killed, and Du Guesclin taken prisoner; and
thus was settled the succession ta the Duchy of Brit-

A.D. 1364,

Count

tany, after twenty-five years of war. The Duke of of Blois

Anjou, who had married the daughter of Charles, and
who hated the English with all the bitterness of a
traitor, wished still to fight for the duchy; but his
brother, with greater wisdom, restrained him, and the
Kings of France and England once more mediated.
At last, on April 11th, 1365, a treaty was signed be-

killed,
and Du
Guesclin
taken
prisoner.

Settlement
of the

tween the widow of Charles of Blois and John of affairs of

Montfort, by which the latter was secured in posses-
sion of the duchy, and the county of Penthiévre was
granted to Charles’s widow. Five months afterwards
Montfort entered into a treaty with the Prince of
Wales, and married the daughter of the Princess by
her first husband.! In December of the following
year he did homage to the King of France for
Brittany.

About the same time that King Charles thus settled
the affairs of Brittany, his quarrel with the King of
Navarre was also brought to a conclusion. Perplexed
with the intrigues and crimes of the Kings of Castile
and Aragon, in which, on his return to Navarre,
each by turns had tried to involve him, the King of
Navarre thought it would be well to bring his war
with France to an end. He therefore gave instruc-
tions to the Captal de Buch, who was then a prisoner
in France, to enter into negotiations with the King.
A treaty between them was signed on March 6th,

Brittany.

Settlement
of the

* affairs of
Navarre.

1365, by which the King of Navarre recovered all.

he had lost in the county of Evreux, and received
the Lordship of Montpellier in exchange for Lon-

1 Buchon’s Froissart, vol. i. p. 501. 3 Ibid.
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gueville (which had been granted to Du Guesclin),
Mantes, and Meulan.

Nevertheless the pacification of Brittany and Nor-
mandy, however advantageous to France in general,
did not put an end to the “Companies;” but, on
the contrary, rather increased their numbers. These
were now estimated at 50,000 or 60,000. The
soldiers who had been employed in those parts of
France, found themselves without occupation; they
had too long led a wild life to betake themselves
to any peaceful pursuit, and therefore joined the
“ Companies.” Even the soldiers of Du Guesclin
could not be restrained from pillage, and he himself
was not free from suspicion of encouraging them.!
Some of the freebooters invaded Aquitaine, but the
Prince of Wales drove them back into the centre of
France, which they called their *chamber.” King
Charles tried in vain to engage them in the crusade
against the Turks, which the King of Cyprus had
undertaken ; but the Archpriest, Arnaud de Cervolles,
was killed by the Germans while attempting to cross
the Rhine, and the * Companies” then refused to
have anything to do with it. At length Du Guesclin
managed to employ them in Spain. The history of

-their doings in that country is so intimately connected

with those of the Prince of Wales, that, in order to-
understand them, it is necessary now to give an
account of the events in Spain which led to the un-
fortunate interference of the Prince of Wales in its
affairs.

1 See Martin, tome v. p. 254,
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CHAPTER VIL

THE CAMPAIGN IN SPAIN.

Pepro, known in history as The Cruel, and—if re-
morseless murders repeatedly perpetrated without a
‘shadow of pretext furnish a ground. for such -an

epithet — justly so called, ascended the throne of:

Castile, at the early age of sixteen, on the death of

his father Alphonso the Eleventh in 1350. It was.

not long before he began to earn his characteristic
epithet. He commenced his reign with three murders:
the first, done in the name of his mother, Princess
Maria of Portugal, but doubtless with his privity,
was that of his father’s mistress Leonora de Guzman;
his second victim, was Garcilasso de la Vega, Captain-
General of Castile ; his next, his own wife,

In 1353 he married Blanche of Bourbon, daughter
of Peter, Duke of Bourbon, who was killed at Poitiers,
and younger sister of Jane, wife of Charles the Fifth
of France. Previously to this marriage, he had fallen
in love with- Maria de Padilla, who became his mis-
tress; two days after it, he left his wife, never to re-
turn to her, and lived with Padilla. In 1361 he
caused his wife to be put to death; in the following
year, when his mistress died, he declared she had
been his lawful wife, that it was for that reason he
had refused to live with Blanche; and he demanded

that Maria’s son should be recognised as his suc-’
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cessor. It isobvious that no weight could be attached
to the declaration of such a monster; but, even if
true, the crime committed against Blanche of Bour-
bon became only so much the more enormous, as
it added heartless treachery to adultery. The in-
dignation of her brother-in-law the King of France
was justly great, and decided him to support a rival
to the throne of Castile whom Pedro’s crimes had
raised up. This was Henry of Trastamare, son of
Alphonso the Eleventh by his mistress Leonora de
Guzman, whom Pedro had murdered on his accession
to the throne. Henry had already made Pedro his
enemy, by taking the part of the nobles in resisting
his tyranny ; on their defeat in 1356, he had taken
refuge in France.!

Pedro had made another enemy beside the King
of France. In addition to his other crimes he was
accused of oppressing the Church, and allying him-
self with the Mohammedan Kings of Granada.
This was thought a heinous sin. For these
offences, Pope Urban summoned Pedro to appear
before him. Pedro treated the summons with con-
tempt ; the Pope consequently excommunicated him,
and encouraged Henry to aspire to the throne.
The Pope now legitimised Henry in order to give
him a show of legal claim to the throne; and, in
conjunction with the King of France, resolved to
make use of the “ Companies” to drive Pedro from
his kingdom. It was no difficult matter to induce
the King of France to espouse the cause of Henry of
Trastamnare ; for, independently of the opportunity
thus afforded him of getting rid of the *Com-
panies,” he thereby struck a blow at England.

1 Buchon's Froissart, vol. i. p. 503, note.
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Pedro was Edward’s ally; he had been affianced to
his second daughter Joan in 1344, and the ful-
filment of the marriage contract was rendered void
only by her death in 1348. In addition to this,
a formal treaty of alliance, offensive and defensive,
was entered into between him and Edward in 1362,
and had been confirmed in the autumn of 1364.!
There was, therefore, ample reason why the French

A.D. 1365.
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England’s
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jealousy of England which, not unnaturally, never

slumbered, should be gratified by the opportunity
of attacking her intimate ally without breaking the
treaty of peace between the two countries. The
part which the Prince of Wales subsequently took in
supporting such a monster as Pedro, may be some-
what palliated by the intimate relations which thus
subsisted between the two countries, and by the
friendly feelings which must have sprung up between
the intended brothers-in-law. But it was a fatal
mistake.

The command of the French expedition against
Pedro was given nominally to John of Bourbon, Count
of La Marche, cousin of the murdered Queen of Cas-
tile, and son -of Count James, who was killed by
the “ Companies” at Brignais; but he was a mere
youth ; the real commander was Bertrand du Gues-
clin. Du Guesclin had been the prisoner of John of
"Chandos since the battle of Auray, and the price de-
manded for. his release was 100,000 francs. This was
an enormous sum; but so great was the reputation
of Du Guesclin, that it was thought indispensable to
secure him as Commander-in-Chief, and the sum was
therefore paid jointly by the King of France, the
Pope, and Henry.

! Rymer, vol. ii. pp. 20, 656, and 753.
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The next step was to secure the consent of the “Com-
panies” to engage in the expedition, and no sooner was
Du Guesclin set at liberty, than he opened negotiations
with their leaders. He sent his herald to their head-
quarters at Chalons-on-the-Saone, to demand a safe
conduct, and on its receipt set out on his errand. Du
Guesclin was well received and hospitably treated by
the brother of the Count of Auxerre, one of the cap-
tains who had fought at Cocherel, and who went by
the name of *the green knight.” Sir Hugh Calver-
ley, the Englishman who had commanded the rear
guard of De Montfort at Auray, and other leaders
of the “ Companies ” were also present. Du Guesclin
declared that the object of the expedition was to
attack the infidels in Granada; but he also said, that
if he could meet with Don Pedro, he would do all in
his power to harass and anger him. The “ Com-
panies ” had been excommunicated by the Pope, and
Du Guesclin therefore promised to obtain absolution
for them, which, of course, they did not reject ; but
this spiritual favour was of little value in their eyes
compared with the offer of 400,000 florins, to be paid
half by the King of France and half by the Pope, and
with the hopes of rich booty which were put pro-
minently before them. Du Guesclin’s proposals were
accepted by a large number of the captains, in-
cluding Sir Hugh Calverley, who, however, made
the stipulation, that he would serve only so long as
there was no war between England and France,
because, as he said, he was liegeman to the Prince of
Wales. Twenty-five of these captains entered into a
solemn agreement with Du Guesclin, and promised to
give up to the King of France the fortresses, of which
they had taken possession in their marauding forays.
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These matters being arranged, the *“ Companies” A.D.1ses.
marched to Avignon. On their arrival, Du Gues- ., ~C°
clin demanded of the Pope his share of the promised panies”
payment; but the Pope made difficulties, saying Avignon.
that it was always the custom to pay for absolution,
and that it was hard to ask him not only to grant
it without payment, but also to pay the sinners.
However, Du Guesclin refused to listen to such ex-
cuses, and the Pope paid the agreed sum. Still, Du
Guesclin was not satisfied, for he had reason to Difficulties
believe that the Pope had raised the money by tax- Poger
ing the people of Avignon, instead of taking it out of
his own treasury. When he had ascertained that
this was the case, he returned him the money he had
handed over to him, and made him refund it out of
his own resources. The Pope indemnified himself
by taxing the French clergy.

The invading forces then marched for Spain, and They
the King of Navarre associated himself with the in- Spain.
vaders. John of Chandos refused to have anything
to do with them.

In the meantime the King of England, anxious to Edward
prevent the breaking of the solemn treaty he had vaia to
made with Pedro, immediately that he heard of the Feri
intended invasion of Spain, wrote (on December i Adui-
6th, 1365) to John of Chandos, Sir Hugh Calverley, joining the
Sir Nicolas Dagworth, and others who had been “* edition.
leaders of the ¢ Companies,” ordering them on no
account to engage in the expedition. But it was
too late; for, as already stated, Calverley and some
others, delighted at the opportunity of engaging in
war, and of giving employment to the soldiers who
had become a burden to them, had actually joined

the invading forces.
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AD.13¢5.  After leaving Avignon, the allies, about 30,000 in
T number, marched to Montpellier, where they arrived
on the 20th of November. They remained there till

Thein-  the 3rd of December ; then, passing through Rous-
:;dé;'.f,:' sillon, entered Catalonia, a part of the kingdom of
A.D.1366. Aragon, and reached Barcelona on January 1st, 1366.

The expedition could not be considered as national.
The invasion was not preceded by any declaration
of war on the part of the King of France; the flag
displayed was not that of France, but that of Castile,
for Henry of Trastamare, although a bastard, assumed
the title of King; and the forces consisted of mer-
cenaries of various nations, including many English.
The army was gathered together with the object of
placing Henry on the throne. For this, however,
but few cared; it was Du Guesclin’s spirit and well-
known character for courage and military skill, and
the hope of plunder, that attracted the adventurers,
and kept the medley mass in a state of cohesion. At
Barcelona they were well received by the King of
Aragon, and were there joined by Henry. Messengers
were sent to Don Pedro by the invaders, to inform
him of their approach, and to say, that they intended
“to open the roads and passes of his kingdom to the
pilgrims of God, who, with great devotion, had un-
dertaken to enter the kingdom of Granada;to avenge
the sufferings of our Lord, to destroy the infidels, and
exalt the true faith.”

Pedro laughed the messengers to scorn ; and said,
he would not listen to such a set of vagrants,! He
soon found, however, that the vagabonds were not to
be despised; for, when he called on the barons and
knights of Spain to gather their troops together and

! Froissart, vol. i. p. 305.

'
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flock to his standard, his summons was obeyed by one A.D.136s.
alone, Fernand de Castro, brother of Inez Queen of | =
Portugal, whose tragic history, in after times, inspired

the muse of the poet Camoens. The invaders soon
recovered the strong places in Aragon, which Don Their easy
Pedro had previously taken, and restored them to “***
Henry. They then crossed the Ebro, which divided

Aragon from Castile, at Alfaro, and marched to Cala-

horra, where Henry was proclaimed King of Castile,
Meeting with no opposition, they soon took possession

of the whole of Castile; and, on April 5th, 1366,

Henry was crowned at the monastery of Las Huelgas, Corona.

e . tion of
near Burgos, becoming thus the acknowledged King Henry on -

of Castile. April 5th.

This revolution was accomplished by the Castilians
themselves, without other help from the foreign armies
than the mere fact of their presence. In case of need
Du Guesclin would have led the “ Companies” to the
field of battle; but no enemy appeared, not a blow
was struck, and they soon began to be weary of in-
action. Henry, however, foresaw that, in all pro-
bability, he should again-have need of them; in
order, therefore, to give them something to do, he
amused them with a proposal of attacking the King
of Granada. This expedition never took place, and,
at the beginning of June 1366,! he found it neces- Most of
sary to let the greater part of the “ Companies” de- :‘;f.,‘r’:‘i‘;’
part. Du Guesclin and most of the commanders soon Freee
followed them ; but some, including probably several
of the English leaders, remained in Spain, until sum-
moned by the Prince of Wales to join his troops.

In the meantime, Pedro, deserted by his subjects, Fright ot
.was unable to strike a single blow to save his king- P"Fe™

! Buchon’s Froissare, vol. i. p. 507, note.
VOL. II. 1
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ADases, dom. At the end of March he fled to the south,

and took refuge in Seville; but, even there, he found
neither help nor shelter, for the inhabitants rose in
insurrection, and compelled him to leave their city.
His object was now, apparently, to escape to the
north in order to open communications with the
Prince of Wales, on whose friendship he had reason
to rely. In answer, doubtless, to his appeal, King
Edward, as already related, had written in the pre-
vious December to John of Chandos, Sir Hugh Cal-
verley and others, ordering them not to take up arms
against  the noble prince the King of Spain.” * This
injunction was too late, but it showed the disposition
of the King of England to help Pedro; in his need,
therefore, Pedro turned for help to Edward’s son. But
he did not dare to pass through Estremadura, and
consequentlyobtained leave from the King of Portugal
to pass through his dominions. He thus escaped

he reaches to Santiago in Gallicia, and fled thence to the sea-

Corunna,

and goes
on to
Bayonne.

coast at Corunna. He was accompanied by his
only friend Fernand de Castro and his own daughters
Constance and Isabella ; the former of whom after-
wards married John of Gaunt Duke of Lancaster, and
the latter Edmund Duke of York, sons of Edward the
+ Third, from whom descended the rival Houses of
* York and Lancaster—the White and Red Roses. On
his arrival at Corunna, Pedro sent Don Lopez de Cor-
dova, Grand Master of the order of Alcantara, with
two knights, to the Prince of Wales at Bordeaux, to
inform him of his misfortunes; he then fled on to
Bayonne,? where he entered Aquitaine, and at length

- felt himself on safe ground.

1 Rymer, vol. iii. p. 779.
3 «Une cité qui se tient du roi d’Angleterre.,”—Buchon’s
Froissart, vol. i. p. 507.
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On their arrival at Bordeaux, Pedro’s messengers
were well received by the Prince of Wales; who,
after consultation with his trusty friend John of
Chandos, decided to send twelve armed vessels to
Corunna, to bring Don Pedro in safety to Bordeaux.
The little fleet set sail, and on its way touched at
Bayonne, at a most opportune moment, for Pedro had
just reached that port. He was therefore imme-
diately informed that the Prince of Wales had sent
him friends to take him safely to Bordeaux, and
Pedro joyfully began his journey. The Prince of
Wales, wishing to do him all the honour which he
thought was due to a King in misfortune, advanced
from Bordeaux to meet him, received him with great
courtesy, and on his arrival at Bordeaux lodged
him in the Abbey of St. Andrew, where he and the
Princess dwelt. At first, nothing was thought of
but feasting and rejoicing; but, after a time, the lords
of Aquitaine, both English and Gascon, began seri-
ously to consider the policy of taking up the cause
of a dethroned monarch, so bitterly and so justly
detested by his subjects, and one who had no money
to pay them for their services. They therefore pre-
sented themselves to the Prince, and repeated to him,
as indeed they had told him before the arrival of Don
Pedro, how griecved they were to hear that he had
consented to help the Spanish Prince; that he was
a bad man and a tyrant, and that the evil which had
befallen him, was God’s punishment to chastise him,
and to give an example to other Kings through
him. These were bold but wise words, and, if the
Prince of Wales had listened to them, he would have
been saved from a policy, which, though for a
time crowned with success, tarnished his fame, lost

12
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a kingdom to him and to England, ruined his for-
tune, broke his health, and caused his early death.

But the remonstrances of the Prince’s advisers had
no effect. He could see Henry of Trastamare in no
other light than that of a usurper, and Pedro in
that of a dethroned King whom it was his duty to
support ; but it must not be forgotten that Pedro had
been betrothed to the Prince’s sister, and that her
death alone had prevented him from becoming the
Prince’s brother-in-law. Edward declared he had
promised to help Pedro  and must be as good as his
word. ‘It is not a right thing, nor reasonable,” he
said, “that a bastard should hold a kingdom, and
thrust out of it, and out of his heritage, a brother and
heir of the land by legal marriage; and all Kings and
sons of Kings should never agree nor consent to it,
for it is a great blow at the Royal State.”!

The Prince’s resolute words may perhaps have
produced some effect on the Gascon lords; but Pedro’s
assertion, made without delay, that he had great hid-
den treasure in Castile, and that he would divide it
among them, mnust have been much more persuasive ;
for, as Froissart takes every opportunity of saying,
“the English and the Gascons are by their nature
greedy.” They therefore agreed to attend a Parlia-
ment, which the Prince promised to call together to
consider what course should be taken.

It is worthy of remark that Gaston de Foix, called
Pheebus from his youthful beauty, was absent from
this gathering. He was one of those Gascon lords
who withheld their allegiance from the Prince of
Wales as long as they could; and King Edward had
found it necessary, at the end of the previous year,

1 Buchon’s Froissart, vol. i. p. 510.
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December 6th, 1365, to write to the King of France, A.D.1s66.
requesting him to compel the Count to do himhomage,
according to the treaty of Bretigni.! Gaston, there-
fore, naturally took the side of Henry rather than
that of Pedro.
The Gascon Parliament assembled in Bordeaux. The Gas.
con Parlia-

After three days’ debate, during the whole of which mentmeets
Don Pedro was present, it was agreed to send messen- 22ddccides
gers to the King of England to ask his advice, and yice of
to ascertain what course he wished his son to take.  Eaward.

Four knights, with their horses, their harness, and Messen-
their attendants, were accordingly at once despatched S g0
to England. Two ships carried them to Southamp- England.
ton. After taking a day to refresh themselves and
disembark their horses, they rode to London, when,
finding that the King was at Windsor, they followed
him there. Edward received them graciously, and
read the letters they brought with them; he then
desired them to return to London, promising, that he
would take the advice of the members of his Council,
as to the weighty matter about which they had
come, and let them know the result.

The King soon proceeded to London, and called King
together his son John of Gaunt, the Earls of Arundel f;,:::dw
and Salisbury, the Bishops of Winchester, Ely, and FPPY™
London, and the other members of his Council, in
order to lay before them the letters sent him by
the Prince of Wales. After a long deliberation, dur-
ing which there can be no doubt that the King urged
that his son should be allowed to carry out a plan so
consonant to the spirit of both father and son, it was
agreed that it was right that the Prince should sup-

port Don Pedro, because he had been wrongfully
! Rymer, vol. iii. p. 779.
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thrust out of his kingdom. It was added, that the
King was much moved to take this course, by the fact
that he had already entered into treaties with him to
help him in case of need.

The messengers returned with these glad tidings,
and the Prince at once assembled another Parliament
to communicate them to the nobles. The money diffi-
culty again came in the way. My Lord,” answered
the barons, “ we will obey the orders of the King our
Lord and your father, as is quite right, and we will
help you in this journey and Don Pedro also, but we
want to know who will pay us our wages, for men at
arms are never thus taken out of their houses to fight
in strange countries without being paid and retained.!
If it were for the needs of our dear Lord your father
or for your own, or for your honour, or for the honour
of our country, we would say nothing about it.” The
Prince then turned to Don Pedro, saying, ¢ You have
heard what our people say, it is for you to answer.”
The throneless King promised them, that so far as all
his own money and treasure would go, he would give
it them. This promise was of but little value ; it con-

1 It is probable that this is & correct translation of the French
word délivrés although it is not satisfactory. It would rather
seem in the present instance to mean a release or deliverance from
the feudal services which a vassal owed to his lord, in order to
enable him to take other service. Buchon, in his glossary to
Froissart, explains délivrance as *suite, livrée, gens dont un
seigneur paie les despenses; ” and our term, “liveried servants,”
although now applied only to those wearing a particular costume,
meant at first, without doubt, those who received pay, livrée,
and were consequently distinguished by some badge, which we
now call livery. The difficulty of considering the word délivrés
to mean payment is, that the prefix must alter the sense of the
original word livrée. Delivered would seem to be the best trans-
lation, but it would not be intelligible, without explanation.
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sequently became necessary for the Prince of Wales
to agree to pay any deficiency, and he even consented
to lend Don Pedro what money he wanted until his
arrival in Castile. The meshes of the net, in which
the Prince was eventually to be entangled, were thus
already beginning to be tied. But the Prince had
some semblance of security for his. money. Don
Pedro placed his daughters in the Prince’s hands; he
agreed to put him in possession of the province of
Biscay and the town of Castro de Urdialés; and he
engaged to pay the Prince’s captains 550,000 florins
of Florence before the 6th of February, 1367, and
56,000 more before the 24th of June.! Not one of
these promises (except the first) was kept.

Another difficulty now arose. The passes across
the Pyrenean mountains were in the hands of the
King of Navarre. Independently of the impolicy
of converting a concealed and wavering enemy into
an open foe by forcing the passes, such a course would
have been hazardous in the extreme. The Parliament
was therefore adjourned to Bayonne, inorder to secure,
if possible, the attendance of the King of Navarre.
Old John of Chandos was selected to negotiate with
the King, and set out, accompanied by Sir Thomas
Felton, for Pampeluna, where Charles then was.
Their mission was attended with such success, that
they soon persuaded him to attend the Parliament.

The Parliament met ; and, at the end of five days,
the terms on which the King of Navarre should open
the Pyrenean passes were settled, and a treaty was
entered into, by which it was agreed that Charles
should receive 200,000 golden florins, in addition to
certain territories, and to 56,000 golden florins which

! Buchon’s Froissart, vol. i. p. 512 note.
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the Prince of Wales had paid him on account of
Pedro, and which, as we have already seen, Pedro
promised to repay the Prince on the 24th June
following.! This treaty was signed at Libourne on
September 23rd, 1366. Charles had shortly before
signed a treaty with Henry at Santa Cruz de Cam-
pezco, agreeing to close the passes against Don
Pedro; but the treacherous monarch, feeling un-
certain as to the side on which success would rest,
thought it advisable to make friends with-both.2 The
Prince made himself answerable for all the payments
promised to the King of Navarre, and for the money
which Pedro was obliged to pay to the troops.

After signing the treaty, the King of Navarre re-
turned to his kingdom ; the barons went back to their
own lands, and the Prince of Wales to Bordeaux.
From thence, the Prince sent to Sir Hugh Calverleyand
the other leaders of the * Companies” who had fought
for Henryof Trastamare against Pedro, telling them he
had need of their services. As liegemen to the Prince
of Wales, they were bound to obey his orders; they
consequently quitted Henry's service without hesita-
tion, taking leave of him, but without informing him
of their reason for departure. As soon, however, as
Hepry discovered that they were on their way to
join the Prince of Wales, he took measures to prevent
their getting out of Spain, by sending Du Guesclin
to his friend the King of Aragon to ask him to close
the passes. The King immediately ordered his sol-
diers to guard them; but the “Companies” managed to
cross by another route—probably through Navarre.
‘When, however, they arrived in Bearn, Gaston de

I Rymer, vol. iii. pp. 799 and 800.
2 Buchon’s Froissart, vol. i. p. 512, note.
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Foix, who had hardly, if at all, acknowledged the A.D.13s6.
sovereignty of the Prince of Wales, and who natu-

rally dreaded the presence in his dominions of a

horde of mercenary troops, 12,000 in number, refused

to allow them passage. When the Prince heard of

this, he sent his ever-ready friend John of Chandos

to negotiate with De Foix; and Chandos soon ob-

tained his leave for part of the troops to march
between Aragon and Foix, while the others were

to go, some between Foix and Bearn, and some
between Catalonia and Armagnac.! Chandos then Chandos
returned to Bordeaux, and he and Sir Thomas Felton try to dis-
again brought the difficulties and cost of the enterprise suade the
before the Prince. They represented to him, that fom e
it would be much more difficult for him to reinstate butinvain.
Don Pedro, than it had been for Henry to drive

him out; for Pedro was universally hated, and had

been deserted by all at the very time he needed

their help; and they added, that the Prince would

require plenty of men and money to accomplish his

object. Finding, however, that the Prince was
resolved to proceed, they advised him to melt down

the greater part of his vessels of gold and silver

and coin them into money, and to write to his father

to ask him to let him have the 500,000 francs then

nearly due from the King of France. The Prince

acted on both these suggestions, and his father granted

him the instalment of the French King’s ransom, ac-

cording to his request.?

1 Buchon’s Froissart, vol. i. p. 516.
- 3 This is Froissart’s account, and there seems to be no reason
to doubt its truth, except that in Rymer, where most of the pay-
ments of the ransom are mentioned, no trace is to be found of
this payment to the Prince of Wales.
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In accordance with the agreement made with De
Foix, one division of the “ Compaunies,” about 3,000 in
number, passed between Aragon and Foix; but they
had, and not without reason, earned so bad a reputa-
tion that they soon became involved in troubles, and
were attacked by the Seneschal of Toulouse on their
way to Montauban. They defeated him, however,
with great loss, and then pursued their way to join
the Prince of Wales, who quartered them at a place
called Bascle among the mountains.!

In the meantime, preparations had been going on in
England to support the Prince of Wales with troops.
During the suinmer and autumn of 1366, orders were
constantly issued for the assemblage of archers and
others, and for securing ships to convey them to Gas-
cony. In the beginning of November the Duke of
Lancaster was ready to set sail ;* but he did not leave
England till the following February.

The Prince now found that he had gathered to-
gether alarger army than he could conveniently pay,
and wrote to the Lord of Albret, ordering him to
reduce the soldiers, which he had agreed to supply,
from 1,000 to 200. This caused a great quarrel,
which was made up for the time, but which, even-
tually, had serious results on the fate of the Prince
of Wales and on the English rule over Aquitaine.

All was now in readiness for the invasion of Spain,

! Froissart (vol i. p. 518) states that this skirmish took place
on the Vigil of Our Lady in August 1366, but this appears to be
an error. The troops must have passed out of Spain after the
treaty with the King of Navarre, and the treaty was not signed
until September 23rd. It is true that there are no means of
ascertaining exactly when it was entered into, but it is im-

probable that it was before August.
2 Rymer, vol. iii. p. 812.
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and the Prince of Wales sent his troops forward ; but A.D.1ses.
he delayed his own journey, until the Princess had "~ =
gone through the troubles of childbirth. This event Spain,and
took place in February 1367, when Richard, the future fojons "
King of England, was born at Bordeaux. The Prince G 2fier
of Wales then followed his troops without further de- ofhis son.
lay, and overtook them at Dax, on the Adour; he was

soon joined, at that place, by his brother the Duke of
Lancaster.! While he remained there, the Count de

Foix, who had hesitated so much in transferring his
allegiance to the Prince of Wales, came to pay him

his respects, and, after a friendly reception, returned

to his territory, with instructions from the Prince

to keep it quiet until his return from Spain.

Reports now reached the Prince that the faithless Attempted
King of Navarre had again allied himself with Henry. treachery.
He therefore sent Sir Hugh Calverley forward to take theBad:
possession of Miranda and Puente de la Reyna, two
frontier towns of Navarre, in order to bring the King defeatedby
to his senses. This policy had the desired effect, and
the King promised faithfully to keep the passes open
for the Prince; but Edward wisely took care, that
the King's own person should be a security for the
fulfilment of his promise, and made him accompany
the army, to guide it across the mountains.

The news, that the allies were about to advance, The
soon spread far and near; and, while on the one friends
side, the Prince’s friends—the faithful Captal de Buch, foo ™4
the Lord of Clisson, the Lord of Albret with his 200
lances, and others—flocked to the Prince’s standard,

Du Guesclin, on the other, advanced to join the reign-
ing King of Castile with the troops he had collected

in France. The King of France and his vindictive

1 Buchon’s Froissart, vol. i. p. 521,
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brother, the Duke of Anjou, had willingly listened to
Du Guesclin’s requests, and had allowed him to raise
troops for the support of Henry, as the King of England
had done in support of Don Pedro; but this conduct
was no infraction of the treaty of Bretigni, and war
did not in consequence of it ensue between the two
nations.

At last, in the middle of February 1367, the Prince
of Wales and his allies set forth to cross the Pyrenees.
The passes are so difficult, that a small body of men
could easily defend them against a large army; they
were covered with snow and the cold was extreme.
It was well, therefore, that the Prince had allied
himself with the King of Navarre, and had secured
himself against trcachery by keeping him with the
army. The pass, chosen for the passage of the
troops, was Roncesvalles, celebrated as the spot
where the rear-guard of Charlemagne was defeated,
and where Roland died. It was settled that the army
should march in three divisions, and that one only
should cross on each day. Accordingly, on Monday,
the 20th of February, the first division, under the Duke
of Lancaster and John of Chandos, went over the
mountain with 10,000 horse ; the next day, the Prince
of Wales and Pedro, accompanied by the King of
Navarre, followed them with 7,000 horse in a fright-
ful storm of wind and snow; and, on Wednesday, the
last division, with about 10,000 horse, accompanied
by the King of Majorca, the Captal de Buch, the
Lord of Albret and others, got over safely. The
whole body of the troops assembled together in the
mountains round Pampeluna.

Henry of Trastamare, hearing of the arrival of the.
invaders, anxiously expected Du Guesclin with the
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French troops; but with that singular mixture of A.p.1ses.

courtesy and cool effrontery which marked the age
of chivalry, he wrote a courteous letter to the Prince
of Wales, saying that he had no.doubt the Prince
had come to fight a battle with him, and asking him
by what road he meant to enter Castile, in order that
he might be there to defend himself. The Prince
received the messenger with great politeness, and
expressed his admiration of Henry, saying, ¢ Truly
this bastard Henry is a valiant knight and of great
prowess;” but, nevertheless, he did not answer his
letter, nor allow his herald to return.

Sir William Felton, and other leaders of the Prince’s
army, were now sent forward with 160 lances, and 300
horse-archers to reconnoitre.! They crossed the Ebro
at Logrofio, and then advanced as far as Navarrete,
where they halted. Shortly after their departure the
treacherous King of Navarre, who had hitherto ac-
companied Edward and acted as his guide, was taken
prisoner, under circumstances which roused grave
suspicions that his capture was planned in order to
afford him an opportunity of escape from the invaders.
A knight named Martin de la Carra, however, offered
his services to supply the King’s place, and guided
the rest of the army through the difficult passes
which led to Salvatierra, where they arrived in safety.
This city yielded to the invaders without resistance,
and the garrison were admitted to mercy at the
earnest desire of the Prince of Wales, who prevented
Don Pedro from carrying out his cruel intention of
putting them all to death.

Meanwhile, Henry of Trastamare, wondering that
his herald had not returned, advanced to the frontiers

1 Buchon’s Froissart, vol. i. p. 526.
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of Castile, and sent out his advanced guard in the
direction of Navarrete, to discover the position of the
invaders. It soon came in sight of Sir William
Felton’s troops, and a slight encounter ensued, which
revealed the position of both parties to each other.
Felton, who had kept up his communications with
the Prince of Wales, immediately sent off to inform
him of the position of his enemies; and Henry de-
termined to cross the Ebro and attack them at once.
Both armies, therefore, marched towards Vittoria as
the expected battle-field. Felton’s object in doing
so was to effect a junction with the Prince’s troops.
This was accomplished, and the Prince and Felton
held a conference. While it was going on, the
Prince’s scouts came in, with news as to the move-
ments of the Spanish army, which led him to be-
lieve that an immediate attack was intended. The
Prince therefore prepared for battle; but the re-
port was premature, for Henry was waiting for Du
Guesclin.

When the armies retired to rest at night, Don
Tello obtained leave from his brother Henry of
Trastamare to attempt a surprise of the English on
the following morning. During the night, Du Gues-
clin arrived with about 3,000 French and Aragonese;
but it was thought best that he should take no part in
Tello’s enterprise. At daybreak, Tello led 6,000 men
towards the English camp, and on his way met and
defeated a small body of soldiers under Sir Hugh Cal-
verley. He then procecded to the Duke of Lancaster's
division, and attacked it with nearly equal success; but
the Duke got his troops together, on the top of a hill,
and kept the Spaniards at bay. Tello, therefore, left
a part of his soldiers to continue the attack, while he
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and his brother went to seek adventures elsewhere. AD.1s6r.
On their way they came across Sir William Felton
with a small detachment. Felton defended himself
valiantly, charging, with chivalrous rashness, alone

among the Spanish ranks. Defeat and death under

such circumstances were certain; Felton paid the
penalty of his temerity. Tello then returned to con-

tinue the attack on the Duke of Lancaster’s division,

and, after a desperate struggle, succeeded in over-
_coming it ; all were slain, except a few who escaped

to carry the evil tidings to the Prince of Wales, who

then, for the first time, became aware of Tello’s at-
tempt.! It was now too late for further fighting.

Tello and his brother Sancho, who had accompanied Tello re-
him through the day, returned, therefore, to their theSpanish
brother's camp carrying with them the news of their “™
success. They were received with great honour and
exultation; but, after relating their exploits, Sir
Arnold of Andreghen, one of his marshals and a

tried and valiant knight, advanced to the King, and

told him he would find that his enemies were the

flower of all the chivalry of the world; that they

would fight well, and would die rather than yield. He
therefore counselled him to guard the passes, so that Henryis
no provisions could reach Edward’s troops, and thus 2dyised to

reduce the

reduce them to surrender by starvation. Henry was English by
starvation,

too much impressed with feelings of chivalry, and too bat he re-
soives Lo

confident in the number of his troops, to listen to such ggh:.
prudent advice, and answered, ¢ By the soul of my

father, Marshal, I so long to see the Prince and to

! Froissart’s account is inconsistent with itself. On p. 529
(vol. i. Buchon’s ed.) he says: “Et aprés vinrent le prince et
le Roi Dam Pigtre,” and on p. 530 : “Bien les eut le prince de
Galles envoyé secourir, si il eut sgu, mais rien n’en savait.”



A.D. 1367.

The Eng-
lish ad-
vance, but
cannot
bringon a
battle.

‘The Eng-
lish march
towards
Navarrete,

128 LIFE AND TIMES OF EDWARD IiI. Chuar. VII.

try my power against his, that we cannot part with-
out fighting, and, thank God! I have the means. I
have, first of all, 7,000 men at arms, each mounted
on a good horse and all ‘covered with iron who will
care neither for dart nor bow; then I have 20,000
other men-at-arms mounted on light horses and
armed cap-d-pied; besides which I have a good 60,000
men with lances and javelins, darts and shields,
who will do good service, and they have all sworn to
fight till death.” So the Spaniards resolved to fight,
wines and spices were brought, and they then retired
to rest.

The next morning, the English forces were ready to
engage, notwithstanding their losses of the previous
day, and the Prince advanced to Vittoria, hoping
to bring on a battle. He did not know exactly where
the Spaniards were, but had heard they were not
far off. ‘The Spaniards were not to be induced to
begin the fight. The English remained at Vittoria
for six days; during the whole time, storms of wind,
snow and rain added to the distress they were already
suffering from hunger. At the end of this time,
they again broke up their camp; either to search
for their enemy, or to get into better quarters.
They marched towards Navarrete, through la Guar-
dia, and halted for two days at Viana, a little
town on the left bank of the Ebro. They then -
crossed that river at Logrofio, and, after a halt of a
few days, took up their quarters at Navarrete.!

When Henry heard of the movements of his enemy,

! Froissart (vol. i. p. 532) states that the Prince of Wales left
Logrofio and went to Navarrete on Friday, April 2nd. This is
evidently an error, as the Prince wrote a letter from Navarrete
dated on the previous day.



Caar. VII. BATTLE OF NAVARRETE. 129

he too broke up his camp at San Vicente, which was A.p.1367.
higher up on the Ebro, and, after crossing that river, ,.4 e
marched to Najera on the river Najarilla, which now fé’%":;‘;t
separated the two armies. The Prince of Wales soon

heard of the advance of the Spaniards, and was
rejoiced at the renewed chance of coming to an
engagement with them. His position was getting

very serious. Hunger, and inclement weather, would

soon have rendered him an easy prey to his enemy;

but, as on former occasions, his enemies’ blunders
saved him from destruction. * By St. George,” he
cried, “ this bastard is a valiant knight, and it seems

he wants to fight us.” He -then called his council
together, and, on April 1st, 1367, wrote a letter

from Navarrete to Henry, telling him he had invaded

Spain because Henry had usurped the throne, but
offering to mediate between him and Don Pedro.

He added, however, that he was ready to fight if his
mediation were not accepted. The next day, Henry

wrote in answer from his ¢ palace near Najera,”
saying that Pedro’s cruelties had turned everyone
against him, that the people had come of their own
accord to offer him the crown, and that he was quite

ready for the conflict.

Both sides now prepared for battle. The Prince The battle
of Wales sent out scouts, mounted on horseback, ‘,’ﬁﬁ"“'
to ascertain exactly where the Spaniards lay; on
their return, having obtained the information re-
quired, he ordered his troops to rise up the following
morning at the sound of the trumpet. At the first
blast, they were to rouse themselves and dress; at the
second, to arm themselves; at the third, to mount
their horses, and be ready to march.

1 Rymer, vol. iii. p. 824.
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AD.aser.  Don Henry, in like manner, sent messengers to
~  find out the position of the English, and, on their
return, ordered his army to be ready by midnight.
Both armies then retired torest. The Spaniards were
well provided with food; but the English had only
scanty fare. Directly after midnight, Henry’s trum-
pets sounded, and his army was quickly arranged in
order of battle, The first division, consisting of
4,000 knights and squires heavily armed, was put
under the command of Du Guesclin ; the second, com-
prising 16,000 light-armed horsemen, under that of
Tello and his brother Sancho; the third, and by far
the largest, consisting ‘of 7,000 horse and 40,000
foot soldiers, was led by Henry himself. The Spanish
forces, if Froissart’s numbers are not exaggerated, thus
consisted of nearly 70,000 men. The English num-

bered only 27,000.
Aprlsrd. At daybreak on Saturday, April 3rd, the Spaniards
Baule of advanced towards Navarrete; the English marched
in the same direction, till they saw the Spaniards in
the plain. Then both armies halted. The battle
began between the divisions of the Duke of Lancaster
and John of Chandos, and that commanded by Du
Guesclin. Shortly afterwards, the Prince of Wales, ac-
companied by Don Pedro, advanced to attack Tello and
Sancho. But Tello, notwithstanding the courage dis-
played by him a few days previously, so soon as he saw
the Prince of Wales advancing, imitated the example
of the Duke of Normandy at Poitiers. Accompanied
by 2,000 horse, he fled, without striking a blow.
The Captal de Buch, seeing this, made an onslaught
on the foot belonging to Tello’s division, and routed
them with great slaughter. The Prince of Wales,
and Don Pedro, attacked the main division of the
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Spanish army under Henry; they were received with
a storm of stones, thrown from the Spanish slings,
with a skill for which they were as famous as the
English were for their bows. This at first produced
a great effect. But the English rallied quickly;
the bowmen poured down flights of arrows into the
Spanish ranks, and turned the tide against them.
In the meantime, Lancaster and Chandos were fight-
ing hard against Du Guesclin; Chandos was thrown
to the ground by a gigantic Castilian, who lay upon
him, and was about to kill him, when Chandos
drew a dagger from his breast and plunged it into
his adversary with a deadly blow. The escape of
Chandos was of the greatest importance to the
English; for he had great skill and experience in
addition to his 